
[image: image1.jpg]) SIC PERMANET

| _rocus | 4
Ontario

VT INCEPIT

2\




ONTARIO

ENERGY

BOARD

	FILE NO.:
	EB-2011-0090
	

	VOLUME:

DATE:

BEFORE:
	Motion Hearing
June 2, 2011
Paul Sommerville
Karen Taylor

Cathy Spoel
	Presiding Member
Member

Member


EB-2011-0090

THE ONTARIO ENERGY BOARD

IN THE MATTER OF the Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998, S.O. 1998, c. 15, (Schedule B);
AND IN THE MATTER OF an application by Ontario Power Generation Inc. pursuant to section 78.1 of the Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998 for an Order or Orders determining payment amounts for the output of certain of its generating facilities;
AND IN THE MATTER OF a motion by Ontario Power Generation Inc. pursuant to Rule 42 of the Ontario Energy Board’s Rules of Practice and Procedure for an order or orders to vary the Decision with Reasons EB-2010-0008 dated March 10, 2011.
Hearing held at 2300 Yonge Street,

25th Floor, Toronto, Ontario,

on Thursday, June 2, 2011,

commencing at 9:35 a.m.
--------------------

MOTION HEARING
--------------------


BEFORE:


PAUL SOMMERVILLE
PRESIDING MEMBER

KAREN TAYLOR
MEMBER


CATHY SPOEL
MEMBER
MICHAEL MILLAR
Board Counsel
DUNCAN SKINNER
Board Staff
VIOLET BINETTE
CRAWFORD SMITH
Ontario Power Generation
JAY SHEPHERD
School Energy Coalition (SEC)

RICHARD STEPHENSON
Power Workers’ Union (PWU)

PETER THOMPSON
Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters (CME)

ROBERT WARREN
Consumers’ Council of Canada (CCC)
ALSO PRESENT:

ANDREW BARRETT
Ontario Power Generation

BARBARA REUBER

CARLTON MATHIAS
1--- On commencing at 9:35 a.m.


1Appearances


2Submissions by Mr. Smith


36--- Recess taken at 10:55 a.m.


36--- On resuming at 11:23 a.m.


36Submissions by Mr. Stephenson


45Submissions by Mr. Millar


64Submissions by Mr. Shepherd


78--- Recess taken at 12:40 p.m.


78--- On resuming at 12:50 p.m.


78Submissions by Mr. Thompson


98Further Submissions by Mr. Smith


108--- Whereupon the hearing concluded at 1:50 p.m.




3EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIALS OF OPG.


3EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  Ontario Energy BOARD DECISION IN EB-2009-0038.


46EXHIBIT NO. K1.3:  EXCERPT OF 2010 YEAR-END RESULTS FOR OPG, NOTE 12.


64EXHIBIT NO. K1.4:  COMPENDIUM OF THE SCHOOL ENERGY COALITION.




NO UNDERTAKINGS WERE FILED IN THIS PROCEEDING

No table of figures entries found.


Thursday, June 2, 2011

--- On commencing at 9:35 a.m.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Good morning.  Please be seated.  Good morning, everyone.  The Board has convened this morning in the motion for review by Ontario Power Generation Inc. for review which has been brought pursuant to rule 42 of the Board's Rules of Practice and Procedures to vary one element of the Board's decision in OEB-2010-0008.

This case has been assigned EB-2011-0090.  

Specifically, the motion seeks to vary that motion of that decision where the Board declined to apply OPG's updated evidence with respect to pension and costs.  OPG questions motion the Board establish a variance to capture the differences between the original pre-filed evidence with respect to pensions and post-employment benefit costs and its actual cost.

In the alternative, OPG wishes the Board to adopt the updated evidence rejected by the Panel for the purposes of establishing revenue requirement as the best evidence of cost category.

The Board has received written submissions from parties, and today we'll hear oral argument.  My name is Paul Sommerville.  With me are Karen Taylor and Cathy Spoel.  Can I have appearances, please?
Appearances:

MR. SMITH:  Good morning.  My name is Crawford Smith, counsel for Ontario Power Generation Inc.  To my right is Andrew Barrett from OPG, and to my left Barbara Reuber, and Carlton Mathias of OPG.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Jay Shepherd, School Energy Coalition.  With me is Mark Rubenstein.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Good morning.  Richard Stephenson with the Power Workers Union.

MR. MILLAR:  Michael Millar.  I'm joined by Duncan Skinner and Violet Binette.

We have received a communication from Mr. Thompson, who will be appearing this morning.  I understand he is caught in traffic, but should be joining us momentarily.  He asked us to begin.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Are there any preliminary matters?  Today we'll hear oral argument, and, Mr. Smith, are you prepared to proceed?

MR. SMITH:  I am.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.
Submissions by Mr. Smith:

MR. SMITH:  Members of the Panel, before I begin, let me just refer you to the materials that I plan on referring to myself in my submissions.  You should have, I hope, from OPG a motion record which contains three tabs with 11 sub-tabs under tab 3, labelled "OPG Motion Record".  And you should have, secondly, a factum labelled "Submissions of Ontario Power Generation" dated May 6, 2011.

And, third, you should have from me supplementary motion materials, which contains 11 tabs.

If you like, perhaps it would be appropriate to mark those?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Supplementary materials.

MR. MILLAR:  Supplementary materials will be exhibit – since we have a new file, so we can start from the beginning, K1.1.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIALS OF OPG.

MR. SMITH:  Should we mark the motion record?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I don't think that's necessary, Mr. Smith, but I'm in the Panel's hands.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I don't think that is necessary.  That is the record.

MR. SMITH:  And I have also provided a copy of the Board's decision, which should be on your chair, in EB-2009-0038, which I will come to later in my submissions.

MR. MILLAR:  Perhaps we should mark that, Mr. Chair, the Board's decision in EB-2009-0038, K1.2.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  Ontario Energy BOARD DECISION IN EB-2009-0038.

MR. SMITH:  Members of the Panel, this is a motion by OPG for a review and variance of the Board's decision with reasons dated March 10, 2011, at page 91, in which the Board did not accept OPG's updated pension and other post-employment benefits, OPEB, costs filed by OPG pursuant to the Board's Rules of Practice and Procedures, specifically Rule 11.2, for the purposes of setting OPG's revenue requirement and OPG's request for a variance account covering the difference between the forecast and actual pension and OPEB costs and related tax aspects.

Specifically, this motion is about the first item that I've referred to, and that's the Board's denial of the updated pension and other post-employment benefits.

OPG seeks on this motion the following relief:  One, an order varying the finding that OPG's prefiled evidence represented the best evidence of such costs on the record to a finding that the update constitutes such evidence; two, an order establishing a variance account to record the difference between pension and OPEB costs in the decision and actual costs; in the alternative to two, an order that the best evidence of the pension and OPEB costs is represented by the update and the amount to be included in revenue requirement; and, finally, an order to give effect to the finding in number three establishing a deferral account to record the difference between pension and OPEB costs in the prefiled evidence and in the update, with an opening balance of 207.3 million - and I will take you to that later in my submissions - with the account to be disposed of in OPG's next payment amounts proceeding.

In OPG's submission, the requested relief should be granted for the following reasons.  First, the Board's decision regarding the adequacy of the update was based on errors in fact.  Namely, the Board erred in concluding that the prefiled evidence was prepared on a more rigorous and internally consistent basis than the update, when both were prepared on the same basis and using the same methodology, and, second, that the update was not selective; second, that the errors raised or the errors committed by the Board were material and raise a question as to the correctness of the Board's decision; and, third, that the Board's decision should be varied to permit OPG to recover its forecast costs as reflected in the update, failing which payment amounts will not be just and reasonable to OPG.

Now, by way of background, the facts relating to the pre-filed evidence.  In its pre-filed evidence, OPG sought recovery of forecast pension and OPEB costs based upon the assumptions set out in pre-filed evidence at Exhibit F4, tab 3, schedule 1.  And that evidence can be found, Members of the Panel, at tab 3 of our motion record, sub-tab 1.

And that evidence, which begins at page 20 of 37, sets out OPG's pension and benefits costs as forecast in its pre-filed evidence and describes the methodology and approach taken to developing that forecast.

If I can ask Members of the Panel to turn to page 25 of the pre-filed evidence, you will see there chart 9, and chart 9 contains OPG's then forecast of pension and OPEB costs.  And the relevant numbers are beginning in the middle of the page under "Nuclear", total pension cost, 114 million in 2011, 162.8 million in 2012, and then, dropping down, OPEB costs 159.3 million and 166.7 million in 2011 and 2012, respectively.

And on the right-hand side, the corresponding numbers for OPG's regulated hydroelectric business can be found of 5.8 million and 8.1 million for pension costs in 2011 and 2012, and 8 million and 8.3 million for OPEB costs, for a total of $633 million.

Now, as I said, the basis for those numbers was contained in the pre-filed evidence and was built upon a series of assumptions.  Those assumptions are detailed in the evidence and hopefully reproduced in a chart which can be found at page 23.

That chart, chart 8, lists the pension and OPEB costs down the left-hand column that went into developing the overall forecast, and you will see what those assumptions were from 2007 all the way through the 2011 and 2012 forecast test periods.

The first three relate to discount rates.  They are significant, as I'll come to in a moment, and then there were assumptions relating to inflation, salary schedule escalation, expected long-term rate of return, and the actual rate of return on pension fund assets in the prior years.

Those were the assumptions, and I may say at this point that no one challenged the use of those assumptions as the correct assumptions to use, other than with respect to the AA bond rate which OPG has subsequently been directed to consider whether that's the appropriate basis.  But for the purposes of today's motion, that's neither here nor there.

By way of update, OPG advised parties and the Board that its forecast of pension and OPEB costs had increased by a total of $264,200,000 from its pre-filed evidence.  That update, which took the form of an impact statement, is at tab 3, sub 6.

And just if I can ask you, looking at page 1, it begins by saying this exhibit has been prepared to show the impact of three changes since OPG filed its application in May 2010.

These three changes are:  One, a change to CNSC fees; two, changes to management compensation as a result of the then recently enacted Public Sector Compensation Restraint to Protect Public Services Act 2010; and changes to forecast pension and OPEB costs.

The change itself to pension in OPEB costs is discussed beginning at page 2, and as reflected in the second paragraph, which should be, I hope, side-barred, what OPG advised was that pension and OPEB costs forecast in its initial application were based on discount rates forecast during the 2010 to 2014 business planning process.

And I can advise the evidence was in respect of when that process took place.  That was in the August through October time period, with the business plan ultimately finalized in November of 2009.  So we're talking about discount rates in that 2009 period.

Since 2010, these discount rates have declined significantly.  This decline has caused an increase in the forecast pension and OPEB costs for the test period.  Specifically, the discount rates used to project pension other than OPEB costs have decreased from 6.8, 7.0 and 5.25 percent - and without going back to it, those are the very numbers that are set out in chart 8 that I took you to earlier - to 5.7, 5.7 and 4.4, respectively.

The updated estimates of discount rates were provided by external actuaries.  Then it goes on to say that chart 8 also shows that pension cost forecasts were based assumed rates of return on the pension fund assets of 9 percent in 2009 and 7 percent in 2010.  The actual return was approximately 15 and for 2009 was approximately 15, and the 2010 actual returns at the end of August 2010 is approximately 2.5.

The net effect of that is the 206.4 million increase.  I should say, while we're on this paragraph, of course, that the reference to the actual returns is equally a reference to assumptions that had been contained in the initial pre-filed evidence.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I think you misspoke, Mr. Smith.  You indicated it was 206.4.

MR. SMITH:  264.2.  My apologies.

So what we have is a 110- to approximately 130-basis point drop over the intervening one-year period in discount rates, and of course as the Board will be aware, discount rates drop, the present value of the actuarial liability would increase.  That is offset slightly by higher than expected returns in 2009.

Now, along with the impact statement, OPG filed an actuarial assessment prepared by OPG's actuaries, Mercer.  That document can be found at tab 3, sub 3.  The relevance of that is that Mercer was the source of the new discount rates used by OPG and that these rates were incorporated without change by OPG, just as it had done in connection with its pre-filed evidence.

In its pre-filed evidence - and maybe you can just make a  note of it - at sub-tab 1 of tab 3, page 22, OPG advised -- it's actually -- it's at the top of the page.  The discount rates for projections are determined by the actuary based on the most recent AA corporate bond yields for the appropriate duration of the benefit obligation available at the time that the projection is being prepared.

So in its pre-filed evidence, OPG relied upon discount rates provide by Mercer.  In its update, OPG relied upon discount rates provided by Mercer.

And if I can ask you just briefly to turn to tab 7, there was overall very little cross-examination in respect of the update.  I plan on taking you to the cross-examination which did exist.

But if you look at tab 7, transcript volume 10, this is cross-examination by  Mr. Millar on Board Staff of Board Staff of OPG's witness Mr. Reeve, also the affiant on this motion.  And you'll see the side-barred portion at line 15:
"What I can tell you is that for purposes of the application, we did not deviate from what we received from our actuaries, and the same is true of the impact statement."


Overall, the evidence is that there was no change in this the update to the methodology used by OPG to establish pension and OPEB costs.  Only the result changed.

Now, we'll come to that in more detail, but that statement itself is found in Mr. Reeve's affidavit, which is behind tab 2 of our motion record at paragraph 11.  As I said earlier, there was limited, almost no cross-examination at the hearing in respect of the update.

There was the cross-examination I've taken you to at tab 7, and at tab 8 there was some cross-examination again by Mr. Miller of Mr. Barrett on a later panel.  The thrust of that cross-examination was in, in my respectful submission, of a variance account and whether one ought to be established.  It was not whether the update was more or less rigorous or did or did not follow the same methodology used in the pre-filed evidence.

And we've side-barred the relevant portions of that evidence with one exception that I do want to take you to.  At page 102, the proposition was put at the top of the page by Mr. Miller to whether or not the variance, at the end of the day, would be bigger or smaller than the amount reflected in the update statement.

Mr. Barrett said it will change:
"We don't expect it will disappear.  We are significantly off the forecast expense which underpins the rate proposal.
"Mr. Kogan:  The discount rates have significantly declined since the time that we had prepared the original forecast.  So we expect that there is going to be still a material difference."

There is one other as aspect to the cross-examination relevant to this motion that I will come back to.

There was argument -- sorry, there was no argument at the end of the day -- not there is there no evidence, but there was no argument that the update itself was less rigorous or did not follow OPG's methodology laid out in its pre-filed evidence.

The argument which did exist focussed on two points:  One, whether a variance account ought to be established; and, two, whether or not OPG should be ordered to follow the cash accounting method for determining pension costs or accrual accounting.

So you will see in our supplementary motion materials, Members of the Panel, the various arguments that were put forward by parties.

So at tab 5 we have an extract from Board Staff's submission.  Board Staff's submission is side-barred.  It says there should not be -- there should not be a variance account, that if it a known cost, that it out to be included in the forecast test period for 2011-2012, and then goes on to argue it ought to be on a cash versus accrual basis -- accounting basis, I'm sorry.

Tab 6, SEC's submission, ironically, SEC's submission at subparagraph 2.12 of its submission begins with a statement that it does not agree that the applicant should defer recovery of all of the 264.3 million of expected increases until a subsequent rate application:
"Instead, and recognizing that these costs can be volatile, we agree with Board Staff that they should be recovered on a current basis in the Test Period, but that they should be recovered using the cash basis [for regulating] utilities.  The cash costs associated pension and OPEB are significantly more stable, yet still recover the same total cost over time."


The point I take there is that SEC at least at that point was taking the position as a starting point that the $264,300,000 was the right number, although it ought to be recovered on a different basis.

CME tab 7 again begins at paragraph 238, recognizing the new forecast of 262 million, and then proceeds to agree and support the submissions of Board Staff and others to the effect that the increased amount that OPG is now anticipating for the test period be calculated on a more stable cash basis, to which Board Staff refers in its submission and included in the 2011-2012 revenue requirement amounts.

Tab 8, PIAC's submission, Vulnerable Energy coalition briefly agrees with Board Staff, which I already covered off.

Tab 9, CCC's submission, also agrees with Board Staff.

So, overall, in my submission, there was no argument with respect to the methodology used in the update, which brings us to the Board's decision, which is reflected at tab -- or extracted at tab 11 of OPG's motion record, tab 3, sub 11.

The Board's decision begins at page 88.  Turning over to page 89, just to make one observation, OPG in its reply commented on the merit of the submission that a cash method was less volatile, arguing that it was no less volatile than the accrual method that had been approved in OPG's prior proceeding, and then you'll see over at page 91 the Board's decision, which begins with the Board correctly, in my submission, rejecting the notion that the pension and OPEB cost should be recorded on a cash basis, commenting on the salutary effect of consistency, and then proceeds in the two side-barred paragraphs to deny the request for a variance account; and, more significantly for the purposes of this motion, deny the evidence in the update.

The Board said as follows:
"The request for a variance account is denied.  Pension and OPEB costs should be included in the forecast of expenses in the same way as other OM&A expenses, and then managed by the company with its overall operations.  The Board finds that the forecast included in the pre-filed evidence was more rigorous because it was based on a set of internally consistent assumptions, while the update is based on the AA bond yields which will change.  Accordingly, the Board finds that the allowance for pension and OPEB expenses in the pre-filed evidence is appropriate, as it is the best evidence on this matter.

"The Board is reluctant to make selective updates to the evidence.  The bond yields have changed, and will continue to change, as noted by the actuary in the updated statement.  Further, the Board notes that the financial market conditions are variable and indeed have improved since the impact statement was filed.  The Board concludes that an adjustment to the allowance is not warranted."


There are, in my submission, three findings that can be drawn from the decision.  Each, in my submission, is a factual error:  first, that the pre-filed forecast was more rigorous because it was based on internally consistent assumptions; second, that the update considered only one variable, the AA bond rate; third, that the update was selective in addressing pension and OPEB costs only.

And I intend to deal with those each in order.  First, the update, in my submission, represented the best evidence.  It is submitted that by accepting the forecast contained in the pre-filed evidence, the Board acknowledged the appropriateness, at least implicitly, of the update.  And I say that because the analysis and methodology used to develop the update was the same methodology, the same analysis, that went into the pre-filed evidence.  One was no better or different than the other, save in one respect.  The update was prepared closer in time to the forecast, test period, and therefore is inherently, in my submission, more reliable.

The Board's finding that the pre-filed evidence was based on internally consistent assumptions while the update was based on an assessment of one variable only, i.e., the AA bond yield, is contrary to the evidence, and all of the assumptions which were included in the pre-filed evidence were equally included in the update.

And if I can ask you, Members of the Board, to turn to Mr. Reeve's affidavit at Exhibit B, which you will find at tab 9 -- I'm sorry, page 9.  It's tab 2.  Tab 2 is the affidavit.  Exhibit B is found beginning on page 9.

What we have attempted to do at Exhibit B for ease of comparison is identify the methodology, analysis and assumptions that went into and underpinned the pre-filed evidence and juxtapose those with update providing the evidentiary references.  And this is really for ease of comparison only.

I say in this respect no fault can be found with the Board at first instance, because there was no chart like this.  It's a large record, and the sources of the information are in several places.

So for this reason, we've pulled it together for comparison purposes, but it is to say that all of the evidence was on the record.  So if you look at the left-hand column, what you'll see there are the very same assumptions that I took you to, Members of the Panel, contained in chart 8.

So in the left-hand side, discount rate, and you'll see there the references from the pre-filed evidence and to the update to the approach taken, and I've gone through the change in the discount rate.

Second, the inflation rate, and you'll recall from chart 8 that the initial estimate of the inflation rate was 2 percent.  On the right-hand side, you'll see the reference to the Mercer report, consideration of the appropriate inflation rate, with a conclusion ultimately reached that 2 percent continued to be the appropriate inflation rate.

Third, salary schedule escalation, again, chart 8, showing an escalation of 3 percent, and on the right-hand side showing, as there had been no change in the inflation rate, there was no change in the salary escalation rate assumption required; therefore, the rate remained at 3 percent, and that can be found in the Mercer report.  And the evidentiary references are further down over on page 11.

Fourth, expected long-term rate of return on pension fund assets, chart 8, showed the expected long-term rate of return to be 7 percent.  The Mercer report specifically alludes to the assumption of 7 percent continued to be used.  The bottom of the page, the actual return on pension fund assets, the middle column refers to the pre-filed evidence, and on the right-hand side you have the evidence from the updates reflecting consideration of those assumptions.  And after consideration, they were changed, having regard to actuals.

And I've already taken you to that, because it's in fact reflected in the update itself.  It's also reflected in the Mercer report - that's the second bullet over on page -- sorry, the first bullet over on page 12 on the right-hand side.  Year 2011 became the subsequent year at the time of the update, and, hence, the expected long-term rate of return was assumed for that year, 7 percent, as stated in appendix B, page 2 of the Mercer report.

From January 1, 2011 to January 31, 2012, the fund is assumed to earn on a market value basis 7 percent per annum net of expenses.  And then the bottom of the page, pension and OPEB costs, again setting out the pre-filed reference, and then on the right-hand side consideration of that and the evidentiary reference.

So, in my submission, the evidence was there on the record for the Board demonstrating that the methodology used to prepare the update was no more, no less rigorous than that used to prepare the pre-filed evidence.  The only difference was in timing, obviously, with the update being prepared closer in time.

Now, the Board also said that the update was based -- or the Board was reluctant to make a selective update to the evidence.  And, in my submission, that finding was also in error.

At tab 3, sub 8, you have the cross-examination of Mr. Barrett in respect of the update.  And as I took you to, three items were identified.  Mr. Millar, beginning at page 104, puts the proposition to Mr. Barrett:
"What would you say if I suggested to you that your update for these pension costs is cherry picking?
"I disagree with that.
"Why is that?
"Well, two things.  When we prepared the impact statement, we cast our net broadly.  We asked all of the business units and corporate groups to identify to us things that had materially changed, and only three things came out of that process.
"So we didn't cherry pick.  We cast our net broadly.  Of the three things, two of which are essentially off setting - that is, the CNSC fee increase and the reductions to management compensation pursuant to the government policy - this is the one that remains.  
"So I don't know if you defined ‘material’, but I think the CNSC fee and the management compensation were something around 12 million, without having it in front of me?
"That's right.
"Did you give a threshold for materiality?
"I think when we talked to people, we were talking in the order of I think 10 million, if memory serves."

So then the proposition is put to Mr. Barrett again:
"So throughout the entire application, there would be no other variances since filing that would lead to an impact of greater than $10 million?
"That is what we were advised."

Then he goes to timing, and that canvassing was done in August with the update filed in September.

So, in my submission, OPG followed the process required by the Board's Rules of Practice and Procedure, which is in Rule 11.02.  If you become aware of a material change to your evidence, you are required to amend it.  OPG canvassed broadly.  It asked for updates of any amount over $10 million, and it brought forward each of those.

Some were increases, like the CNSC and pension.  Others were decreases, like the management compensation, which went down.  Each was discussed in the update.

In fact, what's interesting to observe is, if you turn to tab 3, sub 10, one of the things the Board did in the decision at page 49 of its decision is it actually allowed the increases in respect of the first two items identified by -- or the changes identified by OPG in the first two items, so the first, the $13 million increase over the CNSC fees, and then obviously OPG's withdrawal of the $13 million claim in respect of compensation for management costs.

So, in my respectful submission, the evidence on the record was that OPG's update was not at all selective, which brings me to the threshold test for today's motion.

You have that set out in our factum at paragraphs 20 to 22.  In my respectful submission, the threshold test on a motion to review and vary is now well established and comes from this Board's decision in the NGEIR case, which is included, the relevant part, at tab 2 of our factum.

So that's at the back section.  And as the Board found there, the motion must raise a question as to the correctness of the order or decision.  The purpose of the threshold question is to determine whether the grounds put forward by the moving party raise a question as to the correctness of the decision, whether there is enough substance to the issues raised such that a review based on those issues could result in the OEB varying, cancelling or suspending the decision and that to meet the threshold test, there must be an identifiable error in the decision for which review is sought.

Then demonstrating an error, the moving party must show that the findings are contrary to the evidence, the Panel failed to address a material issue or something of a similar nature.

On this motion, both Board Staff and the PWU concede that OPG has met the threshold test, and, in my submission, they do so for good reason.

As I've said, in my respectful submission, when you consider the test itself, the reasons given by the Board for selecting the initial estimate as being the best estimate or best evidence of the forecast cannot reasonably be viewed as correct based upon the evidence.

In my submission, the evidence was unchallenged, that both the pre-filed and update were prepared in the same manner; second, that the finding that OPG updated only the AA bond rate is incorrect, because it shows that all of the elements -- the evidence shows all of the elements of the calculation were reviewed and updated as warranted; and, third, as I've said, that the update was not selective, but, rather, comprehensive.

This is not a situation, as SEC argues, for example, of a situation where the Board, faced with a new and different method of forecasting costs, chose or preferred the initial estimate as being based on a more -- or being prepared on a more reasonable basis.  This is a situation where you have the same method applied resulting in a different result.

It is also not a basis, as CME argues for rejecting this motion, that OPG has commenced an appeal of another aspect of the Board's decision.  As this Board will know full well, Rule 42 is intended to correct errors in fact which have been identified in a decision.  That is what OPG is doing, and that is the thrust of my submissions.

The act in section 33 applies to errors of law and provides for an appeal as of right to the Divisional Court of errors of law, and that is the basis of OPG's appeal of a different aspect of this decision.

So with great respect to CME's submission, I just don't see any merit in it.

Turning to the merits of OPG's motion, as discussed, the findings of fact on which the Board based its decision to disallow recovery of OPG's forecasted pension and OPEB costs contained in the update are incorrect and in error.

Analysis was not less rigorous and it considered all variables.

The test from this point forward on the merits, in my submission, is straightforward, and you will have Exhibit K1.2.  This is the decision of the Board on -- I suppose, ironically, decision to review and vary by OPG in its prior case, which decision -- which motion was granted.

The simple point is at tab -- is at page 15, where the Chair of OEB -- then Chair of the OEB and then Vice-Chair of the OEB held, in the third paragraph:
"If a reviewing panel is satisfied that an identifiable error that is material and relevant to the outcome of the review decision has been made, the Board may vary, suspend or cancel the order or decision, or if they find it appropriate, remit the matter back to the original panel.  As noted above, the Board has determined that identifiable errors that are material and relevant to the outcome of the decision have been made..." 

And then the Board goes on to vary the decision as it then found fit, which ultimately resulted in the tax loss variance account, which was the subject of some debate, as this Panel will know, and a motion was commenced.

In OPG's submission, if this Board agrees that the decision is in error in a material way, which, in my respectful submission, it was, in that it results in under-recovery to OPG of over $200 million, then the appropriate remedy is to either award a variance account or defer recovery of that, failing which rates will not be just and reasonable.

This is not, contrary to submissions of Board Staff and SEC, a situation of OPG seeking to reargue an issue it lost at the hearing; namely, the establishment of the variance account.  Indeed, this motion raises the prospect of a variance account only in terms of a prospective recovery for the error of rejecting OPG's updated cost estimate.

There's no need for this Board to award a variance account; if this Board is satisfied that the update reflects the best evidence, it is equally open to this Board to award a deferral account.  Nor, in my submission, is this an instance of the Board itself choosing between two equally plausible forecasts.  That is not, contrary to my friend's submissions, what the Board itself said was the basis for its decision.

And you will hear from my friends arguments relating to business planning, certain caveats contained in the Mercer report at tab 3, sub 3, and in relation to volatility, all as purported justification for the Board's decision at first instance.

There are two problems with those submissions writ large.  First, they are not what the Board itself said was the basis for its decision; and, second, that ultimately each of the submissions fails on their merits.

So rather than save all of this for reply, let me just take them seriatim.  First, SEC and Board Staff both argue that the initial pre-filed evidence should be consistent -- sorry, should be preferred because they are consistent with OPG's business planning process.

In effect, what they are saying is that the decision should be read in that:  The original estimate was more rigorous because it was based on a set of internally consistent assumptions [in OPG's business planning process].

And that is not, frankly, what the Board said at page 91 of its decision.  There is no reference to the business planning process at all in the Board's decision at page 91.

Second, that argument itself does not actually make any sense.  And I say that for this reason.  Pension and OPEB costs are not in fact an output of OPG's business planning process.  They are an input.

Forecast pension OPEB costs are developed in accordance with GAAP, based independent and objective information from the actuaries, and the resulting estimate is one of the costs included in the business planning process.

They are not driven by the business planning process itself, and, in fact, if you look at the business planning -- the business planning process itself and the business plan, they actually reflect the fact that this is an unknown cost at the time of the business plan, and ultimately will have to be updated.

So if you look at F4, tab 3, schedule 1, pages 23 to 24, which is contained -- should be contained in tab 3, sub 1, what you'll see at the bottom -- what you'll see at the bottom is in recognition of this by OPG -- and OPG says:
"As a result of OPG being required to make assumptions in forecasting pension and OPEB costs, significant variances maybe occur between the forecast and the actual pension and OPEB costs to the extent that the forecast assumptions are not adjusted to reflect various changes, such as those in economic conditions and demographics, i.e., discount rates, between the forecast rate and the beginning of a forecast year.  Similarly, significant variances may occur between the forecast and actual pension and OPEB cost to the extent the forecast is not adjusted to reflect actual experience, such as the return on pension fund assets, to the beginning of the forecast year." 

In fact, that's exactly what OPG purported to do in the update, and you should have in our supplementary motion record, which was marked as K1.1, at tab 1 an extract from the business plan.  And you'll see in the side-barred portion, under pension and OPEB expense, a recognition of the fact that these will ultimately have to be updated.

In my submission, summarizing on that point, to the extent my friend's point to alleged consistency with the business planning process, one, that wasn't the basis of the Board's decision, and, two, it wouldn't have made sense for that to have been the basis of the Board's decision, in any event.

Second -- before we turn to that, I would say that the practice of updating pension costs, based upon more recent information, is not unprecedented.  And we have included in our materials evidence from RP-2003-0063, which was Union Gas's 2004 rates proceeding.

And it is probably asking the Chair too much to recall that proceeding.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I do remember.

MR. SMITH:  I was involved, too, and I was saying that, because it was -- well, a lot for me to remember.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  You may not want to emulate all aspects of that decision.

MR. SMITH:  No, but I do want to point to one, and I want to point to this.  If you look at tab 2, what you have there is a letter from Union Gas advising of an update, on August 18, 2003, to its evidence, in particular, to its pension evidence.

So you'll see Union filed its phase 1 evidence in the above proceeding on May 23, 2003.  This evidence was based on Union's annual forecasting process.  This process is initiated each summer with the development of a new demand forecast gas supply plan, which is then used as the basis for budgets.

And then it goes on in the next paragraph:
"Therefore, immediately after filing its phase 1 evidence, Union began the forecast process for this year with the intent of providing an evidence update for this proceeding that reflected more current information.  This update was completed at the same time as responses to interrogatories were received."  

Then it goes on to list the various evidence that has been updated.

Over at tab 3, you have Exhibit D1, tab 9, page 2 of 3, updated post-retirement benefits.  Under pension:
"Union's pension costs have increased to 21.4 million from 19 million.  Previously estimated defined benefit pension costs have increased by 3.3 million due to revised assumptions from Towers Perrin, Union's actuary.  These assumptions account for a lower discount rate and lower than expected rate of return on the plan assets."  

And then over at tab 4, the Board's decision dated March 18, 2004, and page over, at paragraph 540:
"The Board also accepts the evidence presented by Union, supported by Towers Perrin, that the cost of post-retirement benefits have increased in the period from EBO-499-2004 due mainly to changes in accounting rules and discount rate assumptions.  Therefore, the Board finds the request of 5.4 million in the 2004 revenue requirement to be reasonable under present circumstances, and under pensions, where pension costs are concerned, the Board accepts that these costs have increased for the company as a result of negative returns on pension fund assets due to decline in equity markets and also due to increased pension obligations as a result of the declining trend of long-term bond yields." 

I just want to make two observations in respect of this.  The first is that the comment about costs having increased, just so the Board is fully aware, is not a comment per se directed at the evidence of an increase between the pre-filed evidence and the update.

It's an increase between the 499 and the update, but it is the case that the Board accepted the evidence all the way up to the update in its decision, and that was the product -- that was the ultimate product.  So the Board did accept at the end of the day -- and that's the important point.  The Board did accept the appropriateness of using more recent discount rate information in calculating the actuarial liability and ultimate pension and OPEB costs.

In my submission, the parallels between that case and this case are striking, and there is no reason in principle for a different result.  Yes, the numbers are bigger in OPG's case, but the principle applies with equal force.

Now, turning to my friend's second complaint that there are a series of caveats contained in the Mercer letter that's found at tab 3, sub 3, I make two responses to that.

First, again, the Board itself at page 91 did not say that that was any basis for rejecting the evidence in the update.  But, more importantly, the Board didn't say it for good reason, because the caveats that were identified by Mercer are the same is caveat's applied to the initial pension and OPEB costs in the first instance.  And those are all laid out again at tab 3, sub 1 -- we don't need to turn to it -- tab 3, sub 1, page 23, lines 6 to 11, and at page 24, lines 1 to 2.

In fact, if anything, the caveats apply with greater force to the original estimate because it was prepared using older information and further in time from the determination of these costs.

In other words, an estimate that was prepared one year -- more than one year before the forecast test period, one year before the update, is inherently less reliable.  And, ironically, SEC itself accepted this very proposition, albeit on a different point, at tab 11 of our supplementary motion material.

You will see that is Exhibit K1.2 at paragraph 3.2.7:
"In principle, we believe that the short-term debt rate, like the long-term debt GAT rate, should be based on the best evidence currently available.  In this case, using a year old forecast, particularly when it is being applied to two forward [test] years, is inappropriate.  Instead, it is submitted that the forecast of short-term debt costs should be updated using December 2010 forecasts."

Indeed, that is a date even after update.  We would anticipate this will result in material reduction and that cost of short-term debt for the test period, in my submission, sauce for the goose is sauce for the gander.  If we are using the best available information, in my submission, as we should be, that it is equally true with respect to pension and OPEB costs, which brings me to the third point about volatility.

My friends say that using the older forecast reduces volatility.  In my submission, again, two problems.  First, the Board said nothing about volatility on page 91 of its decision or anywhere.  Second, that submission is contrary to the evidence which does exist on the record and which I took you to at tab 3, sub 8, which is the cross-examination of Mr. Barrett and Mr. Kogan by Mr. Millar to the effect that the variance, it could be higher or lower.  The only evidence on the point was from Mr. Kogan, that OPG was still considerably off the initial forecast.

And, third, with respect to volatility itself, the submission does not, with great respect, make a lot of sense having regard to what volatility is.  Volatility is not a day-to-day change.  It's no more correct to say we should be going back one year because it reduces volatility any more than it would be correct to say we should go back two years or three years or four years.

If we're basing a test period on the best available information, as the Board said it would, that drives you to only one conclusion, which is the date closest to the forecast test period.

I should say on that point I anticipate my friend for Board Staff will make a submission in respect of OPG's 2010 consolidated financial statements to the effect that the actual -- relying on the actual discount rate and fund performance from December 2009.

I'll save that for reply, but I would say only this.  It's not surprising that OPG's year-end results for 2010 are consistent with its forecast for its bridge year 2010, because the two were prepared relatively contemporaneous with one another.

Looking at the time, when would Members of the Board like me to take a break?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We normally break at 11.00.

MR. SMITH:  That's fine.  I expect I'll be done by then. Finally, before I come to the remedy, one point my friends also make is, with respect to Mr. Reeve's affidavit, paragraph 18, paragraph 18 refers to OPG's actual performance as at year-end, and that was included for one reason and one reason only, and that is to show ultimately how things turned out.

Paragraph 18 is not a discussion of OPG's 2010 year-end results published on March 4, 2010.  Paragraph 18 has nothing to do with 2010 financials.  Paragraph 18 discusses projections going forward of 2011 and 2012 pension and OPEB costs as of the end of February 2011.

The information is included in the affidavit solely to provide the Board and other parties with OPG's most current estimate of the test period pension and OPEB costs as of the date the affidavit was prepared.

And, in my respectful submission, that's perfectly appropriate for OPG to have done that, sensible.  And, frankly, if OPG hadn't, I imagine other parties and the Board might wonder whether the $264 million number was or was not correct at the end of the day.

What we now know is, at the end of the day, the number is still very large.  Yes, it has come off of $264,200,000, but the number is still over $200 million.  It's 207.7 I believe.

And you can see that in the affidavit on page 4, paragraph 18.

MS. SPOEL:  Can I just ask you a question on that point?

MR. SMITH:  Yes.

MS. SPOEL:  If Rule 11.2 requires you to do material -- update material changes to the evidence before the Board's decision and/or order is issued, would you not have been obliged, just as you felt it appropriate to update in October, but that since we had not issued our decision -- when you got your year-end results showing that it would now be 207 million as opposed to 264, wouldn't you have been obliged to do a further update based on your year-end results, if that's material?

I'm asking that question because I never actually really thought about how far Rule 11.02 goes, but we're saying now it's only there for illustrative purposes, but maybe that's a material --


MR. SMITH:  Let me actually extend that, because the answer to your question goes directly to the appropriateness of the relief.  You are quite right with respect to Rule 11.  You'll have to remember, at the time the 207 million became known, OPG had an outstanding request for a variance account.

So ultimately the amount included in the variance account would have been the $207 million.  So whether it was 207 or some other number, ultimately it doesn't matter.

I would say this, though, in fairness.  It matters to this respect.  To the extent the primary relief of the variance account is denied and the Board feels the appropriate remedy is a deferral account, then, in my submission, it would be more appropriate, more correct to use as a starting point for the opening balance of the deferral account the $207 million as opposed to the 264 million.

We're not asking for over-recovery.  We're asking for recovery of the forecast.

MS. SPOEL:  I understand that.  I also understand at some point it has to stop.  You can't be updating your evidence every week until suddenly a decision arrives.

MR. SMITH:  I look at it this way.  Pension is one of those things where you know for sure you're going to be wrong.  At the time of your forecast, you know you're going to be wrong because they are discount rates and you know you can't control them.

So the Board has a decision in the normal situation.  The Board, in my submission, could do three things.  One, it could rely on an initial estimate prepared a year in advance, which, in my submission, would be overall, from a regulatory perspective, sort of the most wrong thing to do.

Second, it could rely on an update, and that's the August number.  And I think for the interest of finality, that's perhaps the best thing, or, third, another thing the Board could do, which would be consistent with ROE and, in my submission, is equally open to the Board to do - it's not the approach the Board has taken with pension in this case or other cases, but it does do with ROE - is to simply say, We know you are going to know this number at the end of the day.  You could have a fight based on your forecast based whether or not you are running your pension in a prudent or imprudent way, and then we'll just plug in the ultimate number at the end of the day.

And that will become the focus of the payments order, and if people have a dispute with respect to the way you've rolled it in, they can bring it forward at the time the payments order is finalized and ask interrogatories in respect of it.

That I think is a perfectly sensible way to do it, and if there weren't a variance account, probably that's the way it ought to have been done by OPG.  But there was a request for a variance account.

So that brings me finally to the relief, and I can now be brief in respect of it.  Ultimately, if this Board is satisfied that a material error was made in the decision, then, in my submission, relief should follow, absent which rates will not, by definition, be just and reasonable, as OPG will not be recovering its reasonable forecast costs in the order at least of 200-plus million dollars.

We have proposed, as I've said, two possibilities.  The first is a variance account versus actuals.  The second is the inclusion in revenue requirement -- is the inclusion of the amount, some amount, in revenue requirement with a deferral account, and that this deferral account would be cleared in OPG's next rates proceeding.

And to show you how that deferral account would look, it's contained at Exhibit C of Mr. Reeve's affidavit found at page 14 of tab 2.  What you have there is the calculation of opening deferral account balance.

And, Members of the Panel, where I said before the 264 million, I think it would be perfectly appropriate for the Board to simply order OPG to establish a deferral account with $207.7 million to replace the $264.2 million, if the objective, as I say it should be, is to not permit over- or under-recovery, and then there will be knock-on income tax impacts which would have to be calculated.

They have been calculated on the basis of the 264.2 million, and in the unfortunate way in which numbers turn out to be coincidental, you will see that the opening balance also turns ought to be 207.

Obviously, if you started at 207.7, that number as an opening balance would be lower.  I don't know exactly what it could be.  We could obviously get that for the Board.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MR. SMITH:  So in my submission, just to summarize briefly, OPG meets the threshold test and, on the merit, OPG's motion should be granted.  The Board erred in fact in three ways:  One, in determining that the updated evidence was less rigorous; two, in concluding that the updated evidence adjusted but one variable; and, three, in finding that the evidence was a selective update only.

In my submission, each is demonstrably wrong; that this Board should correct, and there can be no question that they result in a material amount, $200 million, and we have proposed in our submission a reasonable basis on which to correct for that error.

Thank you.  Those are my submissions.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  The Board will take morning break at this point.  We'll come back at quarter after 11:00.  Thank you.

May I indicate I think it's the Board's intention to try to finish this without a longer lunch break this morning.  So that may change your selections for coffee, or whatever.  You may want to get something to eat.

--- Recess taken at 10:55 a.m.


--- On resuming at 11:23 a.m.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Please be seated.  Mr. Stevenson.
Submissions by Mr. Stephenson:

MR. STEPHENSON:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Just briefly, PWU supports OPG's application -- or motion, rather.

Very briefly, on the threshold issue, I just wanted to say one point.  Clearly, in my submission, there is an identifiable error that has been identified in this case by OPG, in the sense that there is a discrete aspect of the decision that it is possible to describe, it's possible to track, and it's possible to discern what the alleged error is and decide later on whether in fact there was an error that's reversible or not.

But it's possible to identify that, and in the sense of -- I think Mr. Smith has indicated to you OPG's on position in terms of how that is contrary to the evidence, and you can, again, ultimately decide whether you are satisfied whether it is or is not contrary to the evidence, but that is precisely how it has been framed, and appropriately so, for the purposes of the threshold issue.

The third aspect is simply materiality.  I just wanted to speak briefly about what, in my submission, materiality means for the purposes of the threshold issue.  I don't think it means anything more than that if you accept the submission, it will change the payment amounts in some measurable way.

So, in other words, what we're talking about here is not some philosophical problem with the decision, or precedential problem with the decision or a problem that doesn't change the numbers, from an output perspective, in some kind of measurable way.

I don't think there's anything about materiality beyond that.  This is -- the review function of the Board is 'get it right' function.  The Board recognizes that there is a value in getting it right and has retained to itself, as distinct from external authority, the power to get it right.

And the getting it right here is the getting it right from an outcomes perspective, in the sense of what we're talking about here at the end of the day is a payment amount number.  It's not about any of the more esoteric jurisprudential kinds of things that one might otherwise be concerned about, at least some of the lawyers might be concerned about.

But that's not the Board's concern here, and if you are satisfied - and I think the roadmap has been given to you as to why it creates a material outcome basis - in my submission, from the threshold perspective, that's the end of the matter.  So I don't think the threshold is a complicated question.

Turning to the decision, if I can, I just want to suggest to you, and this is my interpretation of what's going on in the decision only - and I say this with some trepidation, because I know one Member of this Panel overlaps with the panel that decided the case, and they know what the Board was thinking and doing, but I'm going to make a suggestion to you, in my submission, how I read this decision and how -- what I think you can reasonably divine from the actual decision in terms of what the Board was thinking and doing.

In my submission, when do you that, it actually all -- the decision fits together, not in a good way, but it does fit together.  And if I can just take you to page 91 of the decision?  You've been there already, and I'm sure you know it's very brief.  There's only four paragraphs on this aspect of the case.

And it's the second paragraph under the heading "Board Findings", and it's the second sentence of that paragraph which is the critical one:
"The Board finds that the forecast included in the pre-filed evidence was more rigorous because it was based on a set of internally consistent assumptions while the update is based on the AA bond yields which will change." 

Stopping there, in my submission, there's only two ways that you can interpret what the Board was thinking and doing there.  The first way is this.  The Board simply made a mistake.  It misconstrued, misapprehended, misunderstood the nature of the OPG update on this issue.

Let me suggest to you what I think to me leaps off the page when I read this.  We know that in terms of the original estimate or the original forecast on pension and OPEB, that forecast number was derived on the basis of seven inputs, seven variables, and Mr. Smith reviewed those with you.

They are in -- at tab 3 -- tab 1 within tab 3 of his motion record, and there are seven variables there.

As I read this, based on a set of internally consistent assumptions, the reference there is to those seven variables, that they were done at a point in time.  They were assessed based on a bundle of information, and they were done collectively and uniformly.  After the assumption -- while the update is based on the AA bond yields, which will change.

The Board, in my submission, misapprehended the evidence with respect to the nature of the update that OPG undertook.  The Board thought that OPG identified a single variable which had changed, made that change, and then grinded out the numbers and came out with a different result.

We know that's in fact not what OPG did.  OPG in fact looked at all of the variables, all of the seven inputs, and it determined that five of them didn't change at all, or at least not materially, and two of them did, one in a modest way and one in a substantial way.

But there's just, in my submission, no other way that you can read "while the update is based on AA bond yields which will change".  We know that that is simply -- it's partially true, in the sense that it is based, in part, on an AA bond yields.  That's where the biggest change occurred.  It's not that there wasn't a complete reassessment of all seven factors.  It's simply that, in most cases, the inputs didn't change when they were reviewed, and then go on to say, accordingly, they conclude this is the best evidence for this matter.

And, as I say, if -- if I am right in my interpretation of what the Board did, that conclusion is a perfectly reasonable one, that you shouldn't just go back and look at the change of one of seven variables.

Similarly, if you look at the very next sentence, the next paragraph:
"The board is reluctant to make selective updates to the evidence."

Again, if OPG had gone back and not updated all seven of those inputs on a consistent basis determining which ones have changed and which ones hadn't, that would have been something that the Board should be concerned about, in that it wouldn't have been something that -- rather, it would be something that the Board would be reluctant to countenance, that you've updated only a single one of seven.

So in my submission, that interpretation of what was going on actually makes sense of the subsequent comments that the Board makes.  Those are perfectly rational, reasonable comments for the Board to make if OPG had done what I say the Board mistakenly thought they had done.

I said at the beginning I thought there were two possible explanations for this, and that was the first one.  The second explanation would be an explanation where the Board was fully aware of the fact that OPG had in fact updated all seven of the inputs and was fully aware of the fact that there were five that didn't have any change and two that had have a change and, notwithstanding that complete awareness, made the following comments -- well, number one, if it then went on to say that there was this contrast between internally consistent set of assumptions and a single variable, then that was a finding that's just inconsistent with the evidence.

If the Board actually adverted to all -- the nature of the OPG update, then they went on and made a finding of fact which was inconsistent with the evidence.  Not choosing amongst evidence; inconsistent with all of the evidence.

Secondly, the comment about it's the best evidence on this matter, again, it's hard to understand what the rationale for that would be.  It's hard to understand what the justification for that would have been, other than the failure to appreciate the nature of the evidence.

To my mind, there is a way of reading this decision that makes the Board's comments appropriate and rational.  It's just simply based upon, I think, an interpretation which reveals that the Board must have misapprehended that initial evidence.

If I am right about that -- and, as I say, it doesn't matter which of the two possible interpretations you take.  They both lead you to the same place.  Both are a decision which is inconsistent with all of the evidence.

But it is precisely the kind of error that the Board would want to rectify on this kind of a proceeding.  This is precisely the kind of thing that the Board internally -- not through some external review mechanism in court, but internally this is precisely the kind of error that the Board, as a policy matter, reserved under to itself through its review mechanism.  It is precisely the kind of thing the 'get it right' philosophy would want to address.

Let me just deal with one other issue, and then I will finish, and that is any suggestion that this is dealing with an assessment of conflicting evidence.  No doubt if this was the case where the Board was choosing which piece of conflicting evidence to prefer, that is not an appropriate circumstance for the Board to exercise its review power.

I don't think there's anybody in the room that would argue about that, but that's not what this is about.  And let me give you an illustrative example arising in circumstances that could have occurred in this case.

If the Board had said that, We reject the update because we think that the AA bond rate used in the update is a less accurate or less appropriate or less reasonable number to use than the AA bond rate which was contained in the initial filing, that would be a finding based upon conflicting evidence.

Presumably the Board would want to give some justification or rationale as to why it preferred an older bond rate as an input as distinct from a newer bond rate for input, but, ultimately, the Board -- it's not inconceivable the Board could have a perfectly valid justification for that kind of a finding.

And if the Board had made that kind of a finding, that would be a case where there is conflicting evidence, and the Board's selection of one -- of two alternatives is not something that could be interfered with.

But that's not what the Board found in this case.  There was no finding that the updated AA bond rate was an inferior input.  The finding was that the update used an inferior methodology.  The problem with that finding is, that finding, that doesn't derive from any conflicting evidence.

The evidence is entirely consistent, and the evidence is, that the methodology - that is, the number of inputs and the way of looking at the inputs - was exactly the same in both cases.  So this is not a conflicting evidence case at all.  It's the same evidence.

So, in my submission, while that is a legitimate basis to not approve these kinds of motions, this particular motion doesn't give rise to that issue, and it's simply not a basis for it to be refused.

Very quickly on the issue of remedy, I just wanted to reaffirm something I heard from Mr. Smith this morning.  I see why there is some appearance that OPG is sort of asking for something that they were declined on the original go-around, which is, namely, the variance account.  But obviously the circumstances have changed, and the request for the variance account in these circumstances, in my submission, is fundamentally different than the request for the variance account in the initial case.

And there are different considerations for the Board as to whether or not, as a remedial question, a variance account would be the appropriate route to go.  And needless to say, you are only getting to that point if you're concluding that there was an error made denying recovery to the tune of 200-odd-million dollars.

And having done that after the fact, after the 2011 rates are in place, is a fundamentally different position than you would have been upon making the original decision and different considerations apply.


Those are my submissions.  Thank you very much.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Stephenson.  Mr. Millar, are you next?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I think so, Mr. Chair.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.
Submissions by Mr. Millar:

MR. MILLAR:  Before I begin, just to give you a bit of a roadmap as to what I'll be discussing, the documents you will want to have in front of you, I presume you'll have our pre-filed submission, and I'm largely going to be following that.

I'll also be making reference to a number of documents in the motion record, and these will chiefly be the documents Mr. Smith has already taken you to.

I am also going to be referring, as Mr. Smith alluded to, to a document that I thought that they had referred to, but it turns out perhaps they didn't now.  These would be OPG's 2010 year-end results.  I provided copies by e-mail to my friends, and I have hard copies here.

Since I will probably be touching on that, I propose to enter it as an exhibit.  I have copies for the Panel and hard copies for anyone else who would like to see it.  That's Exhibit K1.3.  Those are the 2010 year-end results for OPG, in particular note 12.  The entire document is something like 160 pages.  I've reproduced the part relevant for my argument, which is about four pages long.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.3:  EXCERPT OF 2010 YEAR-END RESULTS FOR OPG, NOTE 12.

MR. MILLAR:  I'll begin my comments briefly with the threshold issue.  Since I more or less -- or Staff more or less agrees with OPG on this point, I won't dwell on it, but with respect to the best evidence issue, which I think is the crux of this case, OPG's is on argument is, in effect, the original decision was contrary to the evidence.

And as described in the NGIER decision - and Mr. Smith took you there - this is a permitted category of review.

Now, ultimately, once the matter is examined on its merits, it's Staff's submission the motion should be dismissed.  However, it's really only through examining the issue on the merits that this determination can be made, and, therefore, in our submission, the threshold is passed.  And we can go to that stage, if you want to, on the merits.

Now, I do have a slightly different position for the request for a variance account.  I will come to that when I discuss the variance account.  I'm not sure any new argument or materials or evidence have been presented on that particular point, but when it comes to the best evidence issue, I am not disputing that can be heard on its merits.

I would also like to briefly touch on what I will colloquially call the standard of review that would be applicable on motions to review.  And I discussed this in my pre-filed submissions, and Mr. Shepherd touches on a similar issue, but it's Staff's position that a reviewing Panel should only overturn the original decision if the decision reached by that original Panel cannot be supported by the evidence.

Now, the original panel, as you'll be well aware, heard the entire case directly, including of course the evidence relevant to the update.  And it was in a much better position to judge the quality of that evidence overall.

It isn't really the task of a review panel to substitute its own judgment for that of the original panel unless it is convinced that the original panel made a clear and material error.

If this review Panel determines there were two legitimate options open to the original panel - in other words, the pre-filed evidence versus updated evidence - it should defer to the judgment of the original panel.

Only if this Panel determines that the evidence could not support the decision that was made - in other words, that the decision to rely on the pre-filed evidence was not within the realm of supportable alternatives - only in those circumstance should it substitute its own judgment and grant the relief sought.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  In doing so, what Mr. Smith urged us to do was to consider the rationale that the Panel provided when it made its decision.  Do you include that as part of the -- the sort of reasonableness?  So if the Panel said, We make this finding because, is it the reasonableness of that that we should be considering, as well?

MR. MILLAR:  Possibly.  I guess this would touch on an adequacies-of-reasons argument, which really hasn't been made here.  But I suppose it would be interesting if the panel came to the right conclusion for the wrong reasons.  I'm not sure exactly how to answer that.

I suppose if you found the panel clearly misapprehended the evidence, just got it wrong in what they were reading, I think you could probably could on those grounds, would be the short answer.

I would like to move onto the merits of the best evidence argument.  I'll start with this business about -- perhaps the best place to go would be right to page 91 of the decision, which you'll find in tab 3, sub 11 of the motion record.

There is discussion both by Mr. Smith and Mr. Stephenson regarding exactly what it is the Board was talking about when it discusses more rigorous, internally consistent and selective updates.  And I believe OPG has conceded in its factum, in any event, there's two ways you can look at this.

One is that the Board was referring simply to selective updates with respect to the input assumptions that go into the pension calculations.  And the other thing you can look at -- the other way you can look at it is to assume they meant this was a selective update, in that it was the only -- or with the other two categories, that the only part of the application overall that OPG was purporting to update.

In other words, they didn't go back to the capital plan and all the other individual line items that build up the revenue requirement.

It's Staff's argument the latter is the most appropriate conclusion.  Frankly, it's often an issue, whenever there are updates to evidence, it's not uncommon for the arguments to say, Well, that may be true, but you haven't looked at everything else.

I know Mr. Smith has arguments about that which I'll address in a moment, but it's a very common thing for the Board to have to consider, whenever there are updates to a specific part of the evidence, it raises the natural question as to:  Should the rest of the application be updated, as well?

It's our submission you should prefer that interpretation, that the Board was in fact discussing specifically whether or not the entire business plan had been looked at again.

Turning to the business plan, it's our submission - and, indeed, I don't think it's disputed by OPG - that the business plan is what underpinned OPG's entire original application.  Indeed, I believe there's an entire chapter on it in the decision.  It's referenced throughout the evidence.

I certainly didn't pull up all of the references to it, but if you turn to page 8 of our submission, our pre-filed submission, I've excerpted a couple of extracts.  They are from numerous spots in the evidence.

You'll see the first indented paragraph on page 8, this is from the argument-in-chief.  I won't read it to you.  Essentially, what this describes is how the entire application was built from the business plan.

The next indented paragraph down specifically discusses that pensions and OPEB were part of this discussion.  I have a comment from Mr. Reeve, as well.  Again, I don't think this is disputed.  You can look at chapter 2 of the decision, which says much of the same thing and summarizes some of this information.

Now, because of all this, it's our submission that the Board was not unreasonable to prefer the pre-filed evidence which had been prepared - and I'll get to Mr. Smith's remarks, but prepared in contemplation of -- or holistically is perhaps a better word, with the entire business planning approach; especially sensible given we have fairly significant numbers here.

$264 million, even in the scheme of OPG's overall revenue requirement, which for the two years was something in the range of $7 billion, $264 million is not petty cash.

Now, Mr. Smith remarked that the OPEB and pension costs are not an output of the business plan; they are an input.  And that maybe true, but I'm not sure that that has any impact on the ultimate merits of his argument.

He may be right that had we had this information -- had OPG had this information when it prepared its business plan, it might not have impacted the pension or OPEB numbers, but it might affected the other numbers in the application.

It might have caused on -- an additional $264 million in revenue requirement might have caused them to look at other areas of their enterprise and attempt to cut costs.  We know, for example, that the Minister issued a letter to OPG asking them - I believe this was in May of 2010 -- and this is on the record.  I could certainly pull it up if you need see to see it -- issued a letter to OPG asking them to find ways to realize additional savings, if possible.

In response to that, OPG didn't make actual cuts to its revenue requirement, but it did extend the -- proposed to extend the recovery period for a particularly large -- I can't recall.  It was either a deferral account or a variance account.

All of this occurred prior to this update.  So none of the numbers in the update were considered through this type of review.  So whether the pensions and the OPEBs are input or output, I'm not sure that makes much of a difference.  It still might have impacted the application as a whole.

Mr. Smith took you to a cross-examination that Mr. Barrett and I enjoyed in the hearing.  Let me see if I can pull it up here.  It was the discussion with respect to what they looked at when they did the update and the $10 million threshold.  I think it's at tab 3-8.  Yes, I think that's right, and it's page 105 of that document.

In fairness to OPG, I think we can concede that they did at least consider if there might have been other changes to the application.  In fact, they did make two other ones, which were largely offsetting, the CNSC fees and certain reductions to management compensation.

I think if you look at what they did, it's something far short of a complete business planning process.  If you look at the top of that page, Mr. Barrett said:
"We asked all of our business units and corporate groups to identify to us things that had materially changed, and only three things came out of that process." 

So this wasn't, by any stretch, a ground-up approach or, as best I can tell, a line item review of the items, or, by any stretch of the imagination, a complete business planning review exercise.

Then Mr. Barrett says again down at line 16, when I asked about a threshold, well, he says, I think we were talking in the order of 10 million, if memory serves.

So 10 million, that may or may not be an appropriate number, but of course since it was done at the business unit level, it's possible a number of units might have had smaller increases, or decreases for that matter, than a total may have summer more than 10 million.

We don't know that, and I don't mean to suggest that OPG didn't do this review, but my suggestion to you is it wouldn't by any stretch of the imagination be considered a thorough business planning exercise or thorough, complete review of the line items throughout the application.

Mr. Smith perhaps is the best place to take you to.  He discussed the Union case.  This was the 2004 decision of the Board that Mr. Sommerville sat on.  In fact, he was the presiding member, I see now.

A number of comments on this.  This is obviously an older case.  The Board is not bound by precedent, but I won't focus on those.  Perhaps the best thing to do would be to take you to tab 2, which Mr. Smith provided you, in Exhibit K1.1.  These are the supplemental materials.

This is the letter to the Board secretary's office from Union, the blue page updates, as we called them then, and I think we still call them now, describing some of the changes, the updates to the revenues.

If you flip over to the next page, I guess page -- well, if you just flip over to the second page, page 2, it's actually on the reverse.  It actually shows what they updated, and you'll see there are 12 exhibits that have been apparently updated.

So this was a fairly thorough update, in my submission.  It wasn't -- we only had the letter.  So I hadn't gone back -- hadn't had a chance to go back in storage to actually look at precisely what was changed and in what manner.

But we can see here that they went to the trouble and did corrections or updates or amendments to 12 exhibits, all the way, A, B, C, D, E, F, G and H.  Components of all those parts of application were updated.

Again, as Mr. Smith pointed out, the dollars are a different here than they were there.  Union doesn't have a revenue requirement the same as OPG, but it is not a small -- it's not a small company.

Turning to the pre-filed evidence versus the update or the impact statement supported by Mercer information, the Board had in fact two sets of information, two sets of evidence filed by OPG with respect to pensions and OPEB costs.

There was the pre-filed evidence, and then the impact statement which was filed on September 30th, 2010.  And the dispute here, I think we can probably all agree, revolves around whether the original panel was within its rights to prefer the pre-filed evidence over the update.

Now, the impact statement was supported by a letter from Mercer.  I think it's fair to call it a report.  It's a letter with several attachments and appendices.  And that was filed -- indeed dated October 8th, 2010.

It describes the changes that underpin the updates to the pension and the OPEB costs.  I understand, and you can see from the cover, that OPG had asked Mercer to prepare this update, and I guess you would say it amounts to a mid-year update concerning these costs.

The letter stated that the projected pension expenses had increased significantly, largely because of decreases in the discount rates, and you can see that.  It's at tab 3, sub 3.  That's where the Mercer report is.  Mr. Smith has already taken you there.  I'm referring to the cover page here, page 2, where they discuss the drivers behind the changes.

Now, the impact statement itself - this was the document filed by OPG a week earlier - references discount rates and actual pension fund performance.  And that's at tab 6 -- pardon me, tab 3, sub-tab 6, at page 1, lines 11 through 13.  And I haven't pulled a hard copy of this reference, but I believe Mr. Reeve said very much the same thing on the stand, the transcript volume 10, page 180, that the drivers were the discount rates and the fund performance.

Now, as I discussed my pre-filed submission, the Mercer report contains numerous caveats, conditions and assumptions.  You can see those at appendix B, and they are not numbered here, but I think it's the -- it's last of the appendices.  It's the third last page in that tab.

Indeed, these caveats, assumptions, this goes on for three whole pages.  We've highlighted some of them in our submission, though there are others of course in the document itself.  You can see them there.

The point here is not - OPG's argued this - necessarily that similar caveats would not have applied to the pre-filed evidence.  Any forecast of any nature will be uncertain it and will be underpinned by certain assumptions.  And perhaps in this category of costs, that may be more true than others.

That's well and good.  Indeed, Mr. Smith took us to some similar caveats in the pre-filed evidence, though I note there aren't three pages of them that I can see; though the point is perhaps a fair one.

However, the original panel recognized in the decision that some of the assumptions underlying the impact statement and the Mercer report already appeared to be changing again, and, in particular, this would be with respect to the Board's reference concerning financial market conditions, which would be relevant to fund performance.

The impact statement itself states that 2010 returns up to the end of August of, I guess that would be 2010, were at about 2.5 percent, and this is at page 2 of the impact statement, again, at tab 3, sub 6.  I don't know that you need to pull it up.

Then if you look at Mercer, their assumption, again, at appendix B, page 2, is that the fund performance would be zero percent for the rest of 2010.

The Board specifically addressed that issue.  The issue of market return is at page 91 of the decision.  "The Board" -- I'm quoting here:
"The Board notes that the financial market conditions are variable and have indeed improved since the impact statement was filed."

Now, as it returns out -- I shouldn't say "as it turns out", because the Board was making, I guess, a current observation.  But market conditions had in fact improved since the impact statement was filed, and the fund performed much better than Mercer had anticipated.  I believe the gains were, by my math, closer to 10 percent than something less than 2.5.

Again, I won't dwell on the 2010 year-end results, especially now that I understand Mr. Smith was not in fact -- pardon me, OPG was not in fact referring to this.  But if you turn to Exhibit K1.3, again, this is note 12, the 2010 year-end results, page 2 of that document, which reads page 114 at the bottom, it shows how the fund did 2009 over 2010.

And you'll see I'm no expert in reading these reports, but the value in 2009 was 8.2, I presume billion, and 9.1 billion in 2010.  So clearly the fund performed much better than Mercer had assumed.

Now, I don't want the make this -- I want to be clear.  It's not an argument about hindsight analysis.  I recognize that these financial statements were not part of the record in the proceeding, and I don't mean to suggest the fact that the year-end statement showed higher than expected returns is determinative of what the best evidence at the time the decision was made is.  I think that's the issue.

So Mr. Smith may come back and say I'm doing a hindsight review.  I don't think that I am, and I would agree with him that we can't use the fact that the assumptions were wrong in the end as determinative of this issue.

But I think what it does show is that the panel correctly understood the market conditions had improved since the update was filed and that this would impact the pension and OPEB costs.


To conclude on this best evidence point, it is our submission that the Board -- first of all, I think we can recognize -- probably all parties agree that the pension amounts and OPEBs can be difficult to forecast.  The Board had what I would characterize as two snapshots of pension expenses before it.  It had the pre-filed, which was informed the 2009 audited year-end financial statements, and then it had the impact statement, which was supported by a mid-year, I guess, unaudited update from Mercer.

The panel applied its best judgment and selected the form, noting, as I might add, that the financial matters appeared to be improving since the update had been filed.

It's our submission that both options were open it to, but that there has been no error committed here.

Sort of a stray issue which I'll throw in now, OPG's discussions about Rule 11, I don't want to dwell on this.  I don't disagree they are required to file material updates.  But there appears to be a suggestion -- maybe I'm mistaken, but there appears to be an inherent suggestion, anyways, that the Board is somehow required to accept that evidence unquestioned or unchallenged.

I suspect if I put it to Mr. Smith that way, he would concede that's not the case.  So we're not disputing that they have to file where there's been a material change, but our point is the point is the Board is entitled to question that evidence, to consider it and to accept it or not.  And in this case, in our submission, there has not been an error in that regard.

Turning to the variance account, I have to confess - maybe he'll clarify in his reply - I wasn't exactly sure what Mr. Smith was saying about the variance account.

He referred to my arguments and Mr. Shepherd and I believe Mr. Thompson, as well, our suggestion they hadn't pointed to any reviewable error with regard to the variance account discussion.  He seemed to be suggesting they were seeking the account for different reasons.

So perhaps the best thing to do is to look directly at their materials regarding what they are asking for.

I'm looking at their factum here, although I suspect it does nothing more than say what's in the motion record itself.  But they are seeking the establishment of a variance account to record the difference between pension and OPEB costs reflected in the decision and the resulting payment amounts order, and to OPG's actual pension and OPEB costs for the test period and associated tax impacts.

Unless I'm reading that wrong, that's exactly what they were seeking before the original panel.  The arguments that they have made in their materials that are filed before this reviewing Panel are essentially identical, and these are exactly the same arguments that have been made again.  And as the NGEIR decision states, that's not the purpose of a motion to review, not to make the same arguments and hope for a different outcome.

So it's our submission that there's nothing new with respect to that argument, and that should be declined.

He did mention - and I think maybe this was maybe the alternative relief - that to the extent the Board accepts their initial argument that the proper number derives not from the pre-filed evidence, but from the update - in other words, that they are owed an additional $264 million or perhaps 207, but I'll get to that in just a moment - to the extent you find in favour of them there, they are seeking permission to put that, I believe, in a deferral account to be recovered later.

I don't think we have a problem with that suggestion.  Obviously it's our submission that we don't get to that step, but to the extent the Board agrees with OPG that they are owed additional money for pensions and OPEBs, that if it's put into a deferral account, I accept that that is a new argument that results from this motion, and we don't have a position on that.

I think finally I'll just address this issue of paragraph 18 of Mr. Reeve's affidavit.  This was the business about the 207 million.  Perhaps it would be easiest if we can just pull it out.  This is at tab 2 of the motion record.  Again, I'm at paragraph 18, where he states in the first sentence:
"Based on OPG's most recent estimates as of the end of February 2011, pension and OPEB costs for the regulated facilities for the test period are forecast to be $840.7 million, an increase of 207.7 for the pre-filed evidence."

We had assumed incorrectly, as it turns out, that somehow these year-end financial statements supported that.  It turns out now they don't.  So I think what we're left here with is what I would say is an unsupported statement.  They don't in any way show us where that 207 came from and how it was calculated.

Indeed, if you look at the 2010 year-end results, these year-end results, if appears to me -- again, this is a fairly high level look.  They don't appear to be all that different from what the pre-filed was.

Now, Mr. Reeve has suggested in fact they have evidence or materials to show they are in the whole about 207 million.  I'm not sure what to say about that, because we don't have anything to support that.  To the extent that the Board accepts OPG's argument, that it is inclined to grant them additional money for recovery for pension and OPEB costs, they now appear to be asking for 207, instead of 264.

I would suggest the Board would probably want to see the derivation of that figure, if nothing else.  I would suggest to you it's not sufficient to simply say the number 207.7, especially when the year-end results, as best I can tell, don't appear to support that.

Subject any questions you have, Panel, those are my submissions.  Thank you.

MS. TAYLOR:  I do have one, Mr. Millar, and maybe if you can't answer it, Mr. Smith will at some point in his final reply.

If you go to the Mercer update, I guess that would be at tab 3, sub 3.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MS. TAYLOR:  The second page of that letter, the only substantive paragraph on that page that reads:
"The projected benefit expense for 2011 and 2012 is increased."

And then skipping on to the second sentence, which says:
"This increase is largely as a result of the decrease in the accounting rates since December 2009, which increases in a projected increase in employer service costs, as well as projected actuarial losses at December 31, 2010."


And then of course there's four appendices at the back of that, which contain the detailed calculations for each one of the pension expenses that OPG would incorporate into the deficiencies.

So I guess from your perspective, the fact they have mentioned projected actuarial losses that would be amortized, that would be the first time that I have seen that discussion as it relates to the variance of 264 million, but you didn't touch on that in your submission.

Is that not a material part of the change, and could that -- at least from the way I read that and looked at the decision itself, spoke to the selectively of the update?

MR. MILLAR:  You'll have to forgive me if I'm acting essentially as a puppet for Mr. Skinner, who is much more knowledgeable in these matters than I am.

My understanding is that the projected actuarial losses that are referenced in this cover note are not actually separately identified or set out in the materials that follow.

MS. TAYLOR:  I think that's sufficient for my purposes.  In your cross, I think it was with Mr. Barrett where you were exploring the $10 million threshold, and he indicated that they had cast the net widely.

In asking the question, were you attempting to determine whether or not the change was consistent with the business plan, or were you attempting to understand whether the variables that were updated in the pension cost update in fact influence any other cost item that might fall someplace else, like in OM&A, for instance?

Is it just, again, threshold or were you trying to get to something else in terms of whether those assumption changes touched any other cost item?

MR. MILLAR:  I have a bit of difficulty answering that with certainty right now, or perhaps even in the future, because I don't remember, in particular.  I think this was more designed to be a high level discussion.

When the impact statement was filed, it identified three changes.  We weren't certain what thresholds had been applied or exactly how those had been determined as the three things to focus on.

So this was an exploratory cross, if I can put it that way, to try to attempt to find out how they decided what to update, what thresholds had been applied, et cetera.

The second part to your question would get to a level lower; in other words, where any of the changes identified discount rates, fund performance, what have you, would those have knock-off or roll-off or related impacts on other expenses?

I guess all I can tell you is I didn't ask that question directly.

MS. TAYLOR:  Thank you.  No more questions.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Shepherd.
Submissions by Mr. Shepherd:

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  School Energy Coalition has filed a compendium of materials to assist the Board.  I don't know whether this needs an exhibit number?

MR. MILLAR:  We applied one to the OPG compendium, so I suggest we do the same for Schools.  It will be Exhibit K1.4, the compendium of the School Energy Coalition.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.4:  COMPENDIUM OF THE SCHOOL ENERGY COALITION.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Shepherd, these were filed yesterday electronically; is that right?

MR. SHEPHERD:  These are all things that are already on the record.  It's just for ease of reference.

We filed fairly lengthy written submissions.  I'm not going to take you through them in the same order, because I want to respond to a couple of things that my friends have talked about first.  I'll try to cover everything that's in there, one way or another.

I want to start by responding to my friend Mr. Stephenson, who talked about the fact that what OPG asked for when they filed the impact statement was not, Please change your pension number.  What they asked for a variance account.

And this motion is cast in an interesting way, because instead of saying, We asked for a variance account and it was declined and there's an error in that, what they are saying is, We told the Board that we had an update.  We asked them not to use it and, instead, give us a variance account.

They said, No, you know what?  We're going to -- we're not going to use it.  We're going to do that part, but we're not going to give you the variance account.  And they said, No, no, that's an error.

It seems to tell us it would be simpler - and the reason why we're raising this at the outset is I think this is the context the Board should look at it - to ask:  What is the error in refusing the variance account?  Because that's what the Board actually did, refuse the variance account.  Other than that, it gave OPG what they asked for.  Use our pre-filed evidence, please, in terms of what the number is.

And I have not heard an allegation that there was an error of fact that based the refusal of a variance account.  What could it be?  Well, everybody agrees the forecasts for these things are volatile, and everybody agrees that they are not within management control.  And so that was the basis on which the variance account was questioned.

The Board said, no, consistent with many other decisions in which the Board has said, Yes, we understand it's a volatile number and, yes, we understand that it's largely out of your control, but management did it anyway.

The Board said that consistently in case after case after case.  There is only one exception that I know of, Hydro One, and that was a very narrow one.

So given what OPG actually requested the Board to do, the error of fact, if there was one, doesn't speak to the remedy that they were refused.  So this is our first comment, and that's sort of contextual.  I don't think -- on our basic argument, nothing turns on that, but since my friend Mr. Stephenson raised it.

He says, by the way, Well, that may have been true then, but now circumstance have changed.  I didn't hear him describe any circumstances that have changed.  As far as I can see, OPG asked for a variance account then and were denied.  They have now come on a motion for review saying, Can we please have a variance account?

I don't see much difference there.

Okay, the second area I want to deal with is the test that this review Panel should use to assess whether there is an error of fact.  Only error of fact is alleged here.  There is no error of law.  There is no error of mixed fact and law.  The moving party has only alleged that the original panel made an error of fact.

And I didn't hear in my friend's submissions, what their position is on what the test should be.  I believe his position is that it's correctness.  That is, the test should be:  Did the original panel get all the facts correct?  And that's a very precise legal test which we have talked about in our written materials.

Our view is that the best Board statement on this is in fact a statement in dissent by former Vice-Chair, Mr. Kaiser, talking about the level of deference you should give to the original deciding panel in errors of fact.

And I wonder if I could just turn you to that.  We've attached the decision to our materials, but it's actually in our written submissions at the bottom of page 4 of our submissions.  We have quoted the relevant part.

I should tell you that Mr. Kaiser was not in dissent on this point in this decision.  He in fact decided -- he was dissenting concurring on this decision; that is, he disagreed with the reason for the refusal of the motion, but he agreed it should be refused.

He's the only person in this motion that commented on what the test should be.  And what he says, and I'll read you a couple of excerpts from it:
"Absent constitutional questions or issues of procedural fairness, the courts for the last 25 years have been reluctant the interfere with factual findings of administrative tribunals unless the factual findings are patently unreasonable."


And he goes on to talk about some decisions and refers to the demonstrably unreasonable test in the Via Rail decision.  And he says -- I'm reading now at the top of page 5 our submissions:
"This deference is founded on the premise that administrative tribunals exist because specialized fact-finding expertise is often required."

And so I'm not going to read the rest of it, the rest of the next paragraph, but the basic point here is you have this process with a lot of evidence put in.  The evidence is related to other evidence on a very complicated web.

You have a lengthy hearing, and you have a hearing panel that hears all that evidence and has to assess, What do we think is right?

And in those circumstances, for a review panel to come along seeing a little tiny snapshot, seeing not all the evidence, never seeing any of the witnesses, and saying, No, we think that's not right, we would decide this differently, is not the correct test.  The correct way of looking at it is, unless it's obvious that the original panel made a mistake, you should defer to their broader view and their better ability to assess the facts, because they saw everything.

So I'll go to paragraph 42 of the decision, which is still on page 5 of our submissions, where Mr. Kaiser says:
"A reviewing panel should not set aside a finding of fact by the original panel unless there is no evidence to support the decision and it is clearly wrong."

And he's expressing the demonstrably unreasonable test which is in Supreme Court of Canada's Via Rail decision, applicable not to motions for review, of course, but review by courts of administrative decisions.

So that, we believe, is the test that is the correct test, the appropriate test, for determining whether an error of fact has occurred on a motion for review.

Let's look at the other side, correctness.  The correctness test, the nature of a correctness test -- and two of the members of the Board Panel are lawyers.  They have studied this, and the third one has probably seen it lots of times on the other side.

MR. SOMMERVILLE: Showed better judgment.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The correctness test says that the reviewing adjudicator can substitute their view of the facts for the original adjudicator because they are in just a good position to determine that as the original adjudicator was.

So, for example - and you'll be familiar with this - on a judicial review application of an administrative decision, if there's an issue of general law, then the courts say, Well, we're a court.  We understand what the law is.  We can decide what the law is just as well as the original adjudicator can.

In this case, however, if the test is correctness, then our view is that every motion for review that alleges error of fact necessarily passes the threshold test, because until you look at the merits, you can't decide whether you think you decided differently.  So you always have to look at the merits, every time.  There is no threshold test.

What that devolves to -- and this is why we think that can't be what the Board intended in Rule 44.  What that devolves to is all that a moving party has to do is allege error of fact, and in every case the case is reargued on the merits every case.

That of course -- now, my friend, Mr. Stephenson, says, Well, that's sort of right, because motions for review are - and I'm quoting him - a 'get it right' function.  Take another look at it and see whether you got it right the first time.

Our view is that is exactly wrong.  The Board can't be in a position where every original decision can be reviewed just because somebody disagrees, and, as long as it's a question of fact, another panel that didn't hear the original evidence gets to trump the original panel's decision every time.  That can't be right.

So our view, instead, is that there are different kinds of errors.  There are errors in which you look at the evidence on the record and it's just patent that the Board missed something.  They thought that the witness said X, and the witness didn't say X.  The witness said Y.  It's straightforward.

In that case, of course you review and of course you fix it.  However, if the Board Panel looked at all the evidence and assessed, We like this evidence better than this evidence, we've balanced out more -- this witness was more credible, this study was done better, those sorts of considerations.  They exercise their judgment.  That's the key.  They exercise their judgment in what the correct facts were.  Then unless they were completely out to lunch, in our submission you should not be overturning that.  That we believe is the test.

Now, if that's the case -- that, by the way, is a very similar test to what the courts would apply to a decision by this Board that was appealed to the court.  And we think that's the appropriate way to do it, because otherwise your original decisions have no finality.  That's not practical.

Now, if the Board agrees with me that that's the test, then it appears to us very self-evident that in this case the threshold test is not met, because there is no set of circumstances here in which you could argue that the Board obviously got it wrong, that the Board's position was the Board's decision on the facts was demonstrably unreasonable.

My friend, for example, says, Well, here's one.  They said the update was based on one change, the change in the AA bond yields.  So they misdirected themselves.  That's not true.

Well, actually it is true.  If you look at the comments of the impact statement - and Mr. Stephenson took you to this - there were seven possible changes.  Two of them were changed.  One of them had negligible effect.  That was the impact of current returns, and was wrong, anyway.

And the second one that drove the entire thing, and even OPG admitted in their submissions was the primary driver of the update, was the change in the AA bond yields.

So to my mind, the Board didn't misdirect themselves.  In fact, it was the change in the AA bond yields which drove the update.  Simple as that.

Now, Mr. Stephenson says, Well, yes, but they updated all the other assumptions.  They just didn't change them and the Board didn't recognize that.

Well, the Board didn't to have say in their decision, Oh, yeah, well, this didn't change and this didn't change and this didn't change, but this did.  The fact is only one thing mattered in the update.

They noted that, and they said it was a volatile number.  They were right.

Mr. Stephenson also says, Well, the Board's finding was that the update used an inferior methodology.  So if we look at page 91 of the decision, which Mr. Stephenson took you to at length -- I guess I can understand how he derives that out of the sentence that talks about the pre-filed evidence versus the update.

But the way I read it, in fact, is that the pre-filed evidence was a full study, and in the update what they did is they said, Well, the only thing that's changed is the AA bond yields, so we've got to change the number.

That's true.  That's exactly what happened.  So did the board misdirect themselves?  No.  Maybe Mr. Stephenson feels they didn't give sufficient weight to the fact that the other things didn't change.  But to say that they assumed it was a different methodology is just not consistent.  They never say that anywhere.

The other error of fact that's alleged here is that the update was selective, which is true.  We agree with the submissions of Mr. Millar that that -- the comment about selective was not about selective in the context of forecasting pensions.  It was selective in the context of the overall application.

And we note that in the business planning process, discount rates are used in a number of places where big numbers are involved.  So, for example, nuclear waste and de-commissioning costs, asset retirement obligations, business cases for capital and operating plans, all use discount rates.  If the discount rates changed for pensions, did OPG give any consideration to whether the discount rates changed for anything else?  And would that affect their revenue requirement?

Well, the answer is there was no evidence on that.  They didn't come to the Board and say, Well, discount rates changes for these other things, as well.  They didn't.

So for the Board to say selective is right.  It was selective.  They changed the discount rates for one thing, and the discount rates used throughout their business plan were not changed.

Is that an error of fact?  No.  In fact, they were right.  So our view is, on the threshold test and on the merits, whichever one you want to choose, this motion fails.  There's simply no argument as all that the Board made a mistake.  They didn't in fact make a mistake.  They got it right.

Now, my friend, Mr. Smith, takes you to the final argument in this proceeding -- in that proceeding by SEC where we say, No, you have to use the new numbers.  They are saying, Well, now they are arguing today don't use the new numbers?  How can they talk out of both sides of their mouth?

Well, so let me deal with that by talking about the remedy.  If the Board feels that there's sufficient evidence here that the Board misdirected itself, didn't understand correctly the facts, and, as a result, its decision was materially incorrect, then the proper answer is not for this Board to substitute its view.  And here's why.

The Board in the original case was faced with a number of choices.  They could use the higher pension number and OPEB number that was in the update.  They could use the older number with a variance account, as OPG asked for.  They could use the older number without a variance account, which is what they decided to do, or they could change to the cash basis, which is what a number of parties propose they do.

They said, Well, of those four choices, we choose number 3, and here's why.  If the Board today says that was based on an error, then in our view you should refer it back to the original panel and you should -- saying the basis for you choosing option 3 was based on an error of fact, choose again, because the choice may well be cash basis, is what we'll argue.  It's what we argued in our final argument:  Use the most up-to-date numbers, but use the cash base like everybody else.  It's less volatile.

And this is what Board Staff argued, as well, and several other people.  They could say -- once they look at it again and advised by this review Panel, they could say, no, you know what?  Reconsidering it, we'll give them the variance account, still use the old number, but give them the variance account, or they could say, No, you should actually have the new number.

It's not appropriate for this Board Panel to substitute its decision.  In our view, it's appropriate for the original Board panel to be given the issue back to decide again without the error that has been alleged.  Those are my submissions.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The Board has a question or two.  The finding of the Board in this case, Mr. Shepherd - and it's on page 91 of the decision - is to the effect:
"The Board finds that the forecast included in the pre-filed evidence was more rigorous because it was based on a set of internally consistent assumptions, while the update is based on the AA bond yields which will change."

Now, if that statement is inaccurate, does that not undermine the decision.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It does, but our position is the statement not inaccurate.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So what you are suggesting is that that is a reference to some other material, other than the Mercer report and the material that was part of the record that has been provided or referred to by Mr. Smith in his argument?

MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  What I'm saying is that the Board is saying there was an internally consistent study done last year.  This year, the only thing that changed, the only thing that mattered, was the AA bond yields.  We don't think that's sufficient, given that those bond yields are moving all over the place.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That's not consistent with what the Board found.  What the Board said in its decision was the update was conducted on a more rigorous basis than the pre-filed evidence -- I beg your pardon.  The pre-filed evidence was conducted on a more rigorous basis than the update was and referenced the AA bond rate.

Well, Mr. Smith's submission is to the effect that if you look at all the evidence in the case, including the Mercer report and all of the other references in the record, that the rigour of the update was equal to that of the pre-filed evidence.  Is that not right?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't think that's true.  They use the same methodology, no question.  They didn't change the methodology.  I think that's fairly clear.  But I believe what the Board is saying is, You did a study, and then this year you looked at it and you said, Has anything changed?  Oh, the AA bond yields have changed; nothing else has.  Let's fix the number.

I think that's what they are saying here.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  That's your interpretation of what the Board said.

MS. TAYLOR:  I thought I heard you say -- and you have to correct me if I'm wrong, and maybe it goes to my earlier question to Board Staff.  You made a point, and I don't know where it is in the transcript, in effect, that OPG has a variety of long-term liabilities that would be affected by a change in discount rates.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MS. TAYLOR:  And I don't want to put words in your mouth, but what I think I heard you say was that those costs could also have been affected by a similar change in rates, but yet they were not updated.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I used that as an example.  I think what the Board was saying is, You did this business planning process at the end of 2009, and it was a comprehensive process.  And during the hearing, as Ms. Spoel will be aware, there was a whole lot of talk about how comprehensive and integrated and "the thigh bone connected to the knee bone" this planning process was.

Now, you are taking one piece out of it, one of the inputs, which has a bunch of assumptions.  You're changing the assumptions to that, but those same assumptions aren't being changed in the rest of it.

So now it is no longer a consistent business planning process, you are cherry picking.

MS. TAYLOR:  So you are reading that set of internally consistent assumptions expansively, then?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no.  I think I'm reading the next sentence down:
"The Board is reluctant to make selective updates to the evidence."

I think that's what the Board is saying there.

MS. TAYLOR:  And that's why?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Thompson?  The Board will take a five-minute break at this stage and come back at quarter to 1:00.

--- Recess taken at 12:40 p.m.


--- On resuming at 12:50 p.m.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Please be seated.  Mr. Thompson.
Submissions by Mr. Thompson:


MR. THOMPSON:  I apologize for not getting here at the opening of hearing.  I got caught up in traffic.  I should enter an appearance on behalf of Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters, if that isn't in the record already.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It was.  Mr. Millar did effectively do so.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you very much.  The other thing I should say by way of preliminary here, that I lost my glasses.  I'm operating here with one lens missing.  That's because this eye is okay and this was one is not.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So which half of the Panel can you actually see?

MR. THOMPSON:  I see both of you very clearly.

[Laughter]

MR. THOMPSON:  If I happen to look like Colonel Klink, it's temporary, I assure you, and the replacements are on order.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Is that far-sighted or near-sighted?

MR. THOMPSON:  Both.  I would also like to enter an appearance for Mr. Warren.  He sent me an e-mail.  There is an e-mail exchange I had with him yesterday.  He asked me to indicate to you that because of time pressures, he was unable to file a factum, and, as a result, he considers himself to be precluded from making oral submissions on the basis of the Procedural Order.

He nevertheless asked me - and this is really -- I'm just reading from an e-mail primarily he sent to me, an e-mail exchange we had, that he supports the CME positions outlined in our letter to you of May 24th.  And, in particular, he asked me to say that he supports the point that it's inappropriate for OPG to challenge the scope of the Board's jurisdiction in an appeal to the Divisional Court and simultaneously challenge an exercise of that jurisdiction in a motion for review to the Board itself, and that he supports our submission that in an exercise of its discretion under Rule 45.01, to decline to hear a motion for review on the basis of threshold considerations, the Board should deny OPG's motion for review because of its concurrent challenge before the Divisional Court of the breath of the Board's authority to determine the level of forecast costs to be used in deriving just and reasonable rates.

So that's Mr. Warren's position.  Let me turn to my client's position with respect to the OPG motion.  By way of introduction, we urge you to dismiss OPG's motion for review for all of the reasons already outlined by Board Staff and counsel for SEC.

I'll attempt to refrain from repeating their submissions with which we agree, except for the position of Board Staff with respect to the threshold issue.

Since the Board is hearing matters pertaining to the threshold issue and the merits concurrently, as a pragmatic matter, the fact we disagree with Staff on the threshold issue does not alter the reality that our respective positions on the outcome of the motion are the same, and that is that the motion should be denied.

In his motion for review which is in Mr. Smith's motion record, OPG challenges two features of the Board's decision.  The first one is the Board's denial of OPG's request for a variance account for pension and OPEB costs; and, secondly, the Board's expressed preference for the use of a forecast pension and OPEB costs for the test period of $633 million, rather than the higher amount of $897 million that OPG presented in evidence during the course of the oral hearing by way of an update.

I agree with Mr. Shepherd that there is little, if anything, in OPG's motion to justify its attack on the Board's rejection of its request for a variance account.  As the Board noted in its decision, the request for that same relief had been denied in OPG's prior payment amounts proceeding.

OPG neither appealed nor sought a review of that decision.  In those circumstances, I submit that it wasn't really open to OPG to seek, once again, a variance account without a convincing demonstration that there had been a substantial change in circumstances since the Board's prior decision.

The effect of the prior decision, in my submission, rejecting the variance account proposal, is that whatever their degree of sensitivity to assumptions, the Board regards pension and OPEBs to be forecast-able, and the Board regards that those costs are to be included in the total forecast of expenses that forms part of revenue requirement used to determine just and reasonable rates.

Pollution Probe accepted the reality of the prior decision, and it presented its application in this case with a $633 million forecast as a component part of the five-year business plan on which the -- from which the overall application had been derived.

When it presented its update -- and you can find this at Mr. Smith's motion record, tab 3, sub-tab 6.  The update with respect to pension really surfaced in the impact statement filed on September 30, 2010.  This is at tab 6.

And if you go to page 3 of 4 of that, in the bottom of the page you'll see OPG didn't provide the Board with any updated number in the revenue requirement.  It chose to hang its hat on the request for variance account; in other words, reiterate what it had asked for in the prior case and what had been rejected.  And it says in there it will file additional evidence supporting this request when it files its update to its various and deferral account evidence.

The variance and deferral account evidence is found at tab 3, sub-tab 2.  And on this point, Mr. Smith took you to this.  It starts at page 9 of 12, and this evidence was filed on October the 8th, 2010.

At that point, we're now in the midst of the oral hearing.  And here, again, OPG is saying, We will seek to recover this in our variance -- in a proposed variance account that the Board had rejected in the prior case.

It made no allegations that a material change in circumstance with respect to forecastability had occurred since the last decision to justify its request that the Board reverse its decision in that -- reverse the position that was denying the request for variance account in the prior case.

It presented no proposed increased revenue requirement amount, and the Board in fact commented on this in its decision.  If you go to tab 11 of Mr. Smith's record and you go to page 90, the Board noted in the middle of the page:
"In the previous proceeding, the Board denied OPG's request for a pension and OPEB variance account."

And then it went on to deal with the Board Staff submission.  Board Staff submitted that it had the account been approved, an estimated $314 million credit to ratepayers would have been recorded for the period 2008 to 2010; i.e., more than what they were now seeking to recover in the variance account of 264 million.

OPG's convenient response to that was, Oh, no, you can't take that into account.  That would be retroactive rate making.  In any event, that fact is reported by the Board in its decision and obviously had some influence on the attitude it was taking to this issue.

There was, as Mr. Smith points out, very little cross-examination on the update, because they were hanging their hat on this variance account.  They didn't lead any material evidence-in-chief about everything that got into the building up of this update.  They chose to put their eggs in the variance account basket.

So whatever impression the Board formed from the material that they provided, with little evidence-in-chief to support it, rests with OPG.  They can't now cooper up the record with the detailed affidavit of Mr. Reeve trying to explain how this was all done.  They chose to put it there, naked in its glory, and the Board reacted to it.

So if the Board made some descriptions of that material that OPG now doesn't like, that's their problem.  That's not the Board's problem to correct.

So the Board, however, in dealing with the issue of the variance account, rejected it.  And they rejected, in my respectful submission, on unassailable grounds.  And the Board's rejection of it is found in the decision at page 91, again, in the middle of the page:
"The request for a variance account is denied, pension and OPEB costs should be included in the forecast of expenses..."

I would parenthetically say total expenses, total expenses:
"...that are used in developing the revenue account from which just and reasonable payment amounts are derived in the same way as other OM&A expenses, and then managed by the company within its overall operations."

I submit that last phrase is referring to the total expenses that are managed by the company within its overall operations.  There is, in my submission, no reviewable error of any sort made with respect to the Board's rejection of the variance account request, and, like Mr. Shepherd, I heard little, if anything, from Mr. Smith on that aspect of the Board's decision.

So that then leaves us with the pension and OPEB forecast that is to be included in the revenue requirement for determining the just and reasonable payment amounts for the test period.

And what the Board said on that point -- what OPG is asserting is the number should be $897 million.  What the Board did was express a preference for a forecast for a lower number, the $633 million.

It expressed that preference, in my submission, in this way.  It's in the last sentence of the middle paragraph on page 91:
"Accordingly, the Board finds that the allowance for pension and OPEB expenses in the pre-filed evidence is appropriate as the best evidence on this matter."

The phrase "the best evidence" is, in my submission, an expression by the adjudicator of its preference for the initially filed evidence over the subsequently filed evidence.  An expression of a preference is not necessarily, in my submission, a finding of fact.  It's a choosing on balance between two different versions of evidence.

So on this point, in terms of the fact that the Board found, OPG, in my submission, is effectively asserting that the Board panel hearing this case was precluded from finding any other number than $897 million as the appropriate forecast for pension and OPEB costs when deriving the just and reasonable -- amounts.

OPG says that, in my submission, in paragraph 12 of its motion.  That's at tab 1 of the record.  And what OPG says is:
"In establishing just and reasonable rates, the OEB is obliged to permit the recovery and OPG is entitled to recover reasonably and prudently incurred costs.  Because of the errors of fact, a decision does not permit the recovery of reasonable and prudently incurred costs in respect of pension and OPEB costs for the test period.  As such, the payment amounts are not just and reasonable."

That proposition and that assertion is substantively same assertion OPG makes in the Divisional Court appeal in this case, where it says the Board is precluded from using any other forecast of compensation costs, other than the forecast of compensation costs that OPG says should be used to derive just and reasonable rates.

Counsel for OPG says the challenge OPG makes here is different from the challenge it makes in the Divisional Court appeal.  I say, with respect, they are not.  In each case, they are saying substantively the same thing; namely, there's no evidence on which the Board could act other than the evidence OPG says applies.

This then brings me to matters pertaining to the threshold questions in this particular case, and we've addressed this in page -- I think it starts on page 3 of our letter, which I assume you have.

In dealing with this aspect of the matter, I would like to first take you to Rule 45.01, and you can find that in Mr. Smith's factum in the attachments, supplemental references, at page 2 and 3.  Rule 45 is on page 3.

Our point is that you have a discretion under this rule to determine a threshold question as to whether you are going review a matter on the merits.  And the Rule reads:
"In respect of a motion brought under Rule 42.01, the Board may determine with or without a hearing a threshold question of whether the matter should be reviewed before conducting any review of the merits."

I just say in passing that there is no provision of that nature that I'm aware of when matters go to the Court of Appeal or are taken by way of judicial review.  This is something that unique in your rules, in particular, and I submit that its uniqueness needs to be considered in the context that when it comes to rate matters, you're dealing with a continuum.

Companies are coming in periodically, whether it is every two years or every year or every three years.  It's a continuum, and so you can't be bogged down hearing motions for review in every case.

So you have this, I say, discretion to determine on a case-by-case basis whether a threshold question exists, and, secondly, whether you are going to hear a matter where a threshold question exists.

And I submit to you there are two reasons why you should exercise your discretion under the rules -- under this rule to deny this motion on the basis of threshold considerations.

And one of them stems from the appeal that OPG has launched to the Divisional Court.  I repeat that in that appeal, OPG is challenging the Board's power to use any forecasts of compensation costs other than those proffered by OPG when determining the revenue requirement from which just and reasonable payment amounts are to be derived, just as it submits in the motion here that it's precluded from recovering prudently incurred costs if forecasts other than theirs are used.  It's exactly the same substantive allegation made in this case.

If you agree with that, if you agree they are substantively the same allegations, then we submit that in an exercise of your discretion, you should refrain from hearing on threshold grounds this motion, because it's being made by a party that is concurrently attacking the very same decision on the same grounds in a judicial proceeding before the Divisional Court.

It's the same issue, not a different issue as Mr. Smith suggests in argument, and I have made that point already.

The second reason why we submit this motion should be denied on threshold grounds is that OPG has failed to make a prima facie demonstration that the Board committed an error of fact when it expressed its preference for using the $633 million forecast, rather than the $897 million forecast in the revenue requirement used to derive just and reasonable payment amounts for the test period.

Now, when a party seeking a review alleges an error of fact, which is what is being asserted here, what they are saying is that the tribunal rendering the decision made a finding of fact that is reversible.  For a finding of fact to be reversible on review or on appeal, there must be a convincing demonstration by the party alleging an error of fact that there was no relevant evidence in the record capable of supporting that finding.

Put another way, the finding of fact is correct when there's some evidence to support it.  That principle is well known to anyone involved in reviews and appeals.

So the question becomes, on this threshold issue:  What is required to make a prima facie demonstration that an error of fact has been committed?  And I submit there must be an arguable case that there was no relevant evidence in the record before the tribunal that made the finding of fact to support its use of the $633 million amount as appropriate for determining OPG's just and reasonable payment amounts for the test period.

Mere allegations that the tribunal made an error of fact, or a mere allegation that a finding was contrary to evidence, do not justify the holding of a review, in my submission.  It must go further and show that there was no relevant evidence in the record capable of supporting such a finding.

So that you must look at the evidence.  You must look at the record that was before the tribunal below to make that evaluation.  You don't have to move into the merit territory to do that.  So I disagree with Mr. Smith -- Mr. Millar when he made that submission to you.

The threshold issue concept, in my respectful submission, when you are dealing with errors of fact, does encompass some of these propositions that he was making with respect to the standard of review.  And you don't get to the merits unless there's clearly a lack of evidence in the record capable of supporting the finding that was made.

The other point I think important to emphasize here is back to Mr. Smith's factum.  If you go to page 2, it deals with the grounds for a motion for review.  It is 44.01(a), and there are four of them.  One of them is error of fact, and then another one is facts that were not previously placed in evidence in the proceeding, could not have been discovered by reasonable diligence at the time.

What is alleged here is an error of fact, and a motion for review on that ground is not an opportunity for the moving party to remedy deficiencies in the evidence that was before the tribunal that made the finding that they are challenging, but that's exactly what they have done here.  They have now brought in Mr. Reeve's affidavit, his charts, explaining everything that happened, and so on.  That wasn't before the tribunal.

They chose to go the variance account route, so there was little, if anything, before the tribunal with respect to that point.  There were submissions on what the amount should be in the revenue requirement if the Board rejected the variance account proposal, but they were from intervenors.

Intervenors were saying the amount should be done on a cash basis.  On a cash basis, the amount wouldn't be $633 million.  As the decision indicates at page -- it's tab 11 at page 89.  You'll see that the submission was that on a case basis, the total amount would be $568 million.

So the numbers intervenors were putting forward - and Mr. Smith attaches submissions on the point as part of his supplementary material - would produce a lesser number.  The fact that others made submissions for a number less than $633 million is really irrelevant to the outcome of this motion.

What is relevant to the outcome of this motion is:  Was there some evidence before the tribunal to support the $633 million?  Similarly, the fact that the Board in another proceeding eight years ago gave weight to a pension update made by Union again is irrelevant to the outcome of this appeal.

What this Board decided was that the 633 was appropriate.  So that's the question that has to be focussed upon in this -- we say, in the threshold analysis.  Mr. Millar is saying you do it on the merits analysis.  But that's what has to be examined.

And our answer to the question is clearly there was some evidence in the record to support that number.  OPG cannot possibly demonstrate that there was no evidence to support that number in this record.

That really, in my respectful submission, is the end of the matter.  That number was in their initial forecast.  It was open to the Board to accept it.

But Mr. Smith goes on and says:  Well, the language the Board used to describe its selection of that number was inappropriate, and he senses that there were errors there.

I submit when you look at the whole record and you give deference to your colleagues that listen to this case, the criticisms that are made of the phrases that are used to characterize the update are without merit.

The first phrase that Mr. Smith criticizes in terms of the Board's characterization of the update is "selective".  Now, it didn't actually apply that to this particular update.  It said the Board is reluctant to make selective updates to the evidence, and that proposition is one that the Board has expressed on numerous occasions previously.

What had happened here was they had updated the pension amount, which was one element of the business plan that is supposedly driving this entire application.  What is clear, though, it hadn't updated all of the other elements of the business plan that were driving the application.

I believe it was in that context the Board made the statement that it made in its Reasons.  There is a Member of the sitting on this Panel, and as Mr. Stephenson said, we'll find out if we are interpreting this decision properly or improperly, but that's the way the phrase was used, in my respectful submission.

Similarly, there's the phrase "less rigorous" than the initial –- sorry, that the update was "less rigorous" than the initial evidence.  Now, if the Board formed that impression, that's their fault, because they didn't have this stuff from their Mr. Reeve that's now before you, and the Board cannot be faulted if that's the impression that it formed.

But in the context of –- as Mr. Shepherd puts it more broadly -- in the context of the initial pension forecast being a component of the business plan which drove the application, and this singular update into the business plan without updates of the other portions of it, the business plan modified, if you will, selectively, that was now driving the application was less rigorous than the initial business plan.

All that turns on the view you take of what the words mean.  But I go further and say even if they got that wrong, even if they've got that phrase wrong, that does not negate the reality that there is evidence in the record capable of supporting these $633 million that was found to be appropriate.

The other phrase that is challenged is the use of the phrase "best evidence" and I submit there, and I'm repeating what I said earlier, the Board in excusing that phrase is merely expressing its preferences for one piece of evidence over another.  And the Board -– an adjudicator makes no error, in my submission, in expressing such preferences.  In fact, it's obliged to indicate in reasons where it does prefer evidence, one source of evidence over another source of evidence.

Nothing that OPG says can change the Board's expressed preference.  So the fact that OPG says:  Well, it's not the best evidence doesn't really do anything in terms of reality, well, that's what the Board concluded.

In our letter – I'm just about done - we say at page 2, we refer towards the bottom of the page the particular expertise of the Board, and the Board Panel that heard this case contested of Ms. Hare and Ms. Chaplin, and these people are familiar with issues of this nature.  We say:

"The Board's particular expertise encompasses an awareness of the fact that forecasts of prospective pension and OPEB costs can vary widely, having regard to their sensitivity to assumptions."
Mr. Smith says:  Well, there's not -- a little further down we use the word "volatility".  Mr. Smith says:  Well, they're not one -- the word "volatility" doesn't appear in the decision.  Well, the word "variability" or "variable" does, and the Board, in its Decision, on page 91 said:
"Further, the Board notes that the financial market conditions are variable and have indeed improved since the impact statement was filed."


The concept variability or volatility is one and the same to me.  The Board concludes that an adjustment to the allowance is not warranted.

That decision-making option, in my submission, was open to the Board on the basis of the record before it, and in all of those circumstances that I described, there has been and there cannot not be a prima facie demonstration that there is no relevant evidence in the record to support the use of $633 million.  There most certainly is, and I submit there is no reversible finding of fact with respect to the Board's use of that number.

My last submission is that if you are going to deal with this matter on the merits, as opposed to rejecting it on threshold grounds as we urge, then I urge you to state in the strongest terms possible in your decision that the Board has the power to make findings on evidence in the record different from evidence that OPG says applies.

In that connection, you might want to review the factum that has been filed by the Board's Counsel in the Ontario Hydro appeal, and in particular the parts of it that deal with the topic headings "Power to set just and reasonable rates" and "Presumption of prudence," and I believe those paragraphs are paragraphs 22 to 27 of that material.

For all of these reasons, we submit that the motion should be denied.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Thompson.

MS. TAYLOR:  Mr. Thompson, early on in your submissions -- I just want to clarify that I heard you correctly.

You seemed to be implying that OPG had a filing strategy, the effect of which would frustrate the Board's previous denial of the variance account.  And I mean this by saying they filed a pension and cause benefit that was, as I said this morning, well in excess of 12 months old.  So it was based on old data.  And then midway through the proceeding, I guess, in October, if that date is correct, they filed an update with a big variance, and they said:  Well, instead of pushing it through the revenue requirement and asking for a change in the revenue requirement, we want a variance account, because this is such a large variance, with the effect that it now asked for a variance account and established the variance as large, as material, and that, in fact, then, undoes the Board's previous decision that says no variance account is justifiable, based on the fact that this, in fact, could be forecast.

Is that what I heard you saying?

MR. THOMPSON:  If that's what you took from my remark, then I don't think -- I don't want to frustrate anything.  What they did was they decided to go the request for a variance account route, which was a request to change a decision that had been previously rendered.

When that happens, there is a test that has to be met, in my submission, demonstrating a substantial change in circumstances with respect to forecastability, and they never really addressed that.  They just said, These numbers are higher.  We're not going to update the number in our revenue requirement.  Instead, we're going to take our chances on variance account.  And they lost because they didn't meet the requirements to, in my submission, succeed on that point.

But in taking that strategy, there was not a whole lot of information about the update that had been done.  That was a risk they took.  They now want to patch that up with Mr. Reeve's evidence, and I say too late.

MS. TAYLOR:  Again, just to be clear, I heard you say that -- so OPG has provided a schedule.  They have demonstrated the evidence was, I guess, all over the place, as they described it, but it was there.  You're suggesting that it might have been there, but it was extremely difficult to find, but it was their case to make and they didn't make it?  Is that what you're suggesting?

MR. THOMPSON:  Exactly.  They are criticizing the Board from a language the Board has used in its reasons, phrases it used to characterize that evidence.  I say that's their problem, because -- because of the way they played it.

MS. TAYLOR:  Those are my questions.  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Thompson, on page 91 of the decision, there is -- after -- the last paragraph on that page, where the Board says:
"The Board sees no reason to depart from the use of AA bond yields at this time, with the exception of using more current data.  However, OPG is directed to provide a fuller range and discussion of alternatives than the use of AA yields to forecast discount rates in its next application."

Do you have any observations on what is meant by the phrase "with the exception of using more current data" in that paragraph?

MR. THOMPSON:  I'm afraid I can't help you there.  I wasn't here for the viva voce part of the evidence.  I would be guessing.  Others may be able to answer the question, but I can't.  I'm sorry.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It's now 1:30, and I'm looking at the court reporter to see if -- first of all, Mr. Smith, perhaps you can give us some indication as to how long your reply might be.

MR. SMITH:  Fifteen minutes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  With that in mind, the Board is inclined to proceed, and please do so.

Further Submissions by Mr. Smith:

MR. SMITH:  Thank you, Members of the Panel.  We'll respond to your question, Mr. Sommerville, in my remarks, because I will pick up on something Mr. Millar said.

Let me start by dealing with this issue of the variance account because, in my submission, it is a bit of a distraction and ultimately does not have any bearing on the disposition of this motion.  It is incorrect to say that OPG hung its hat on the variance account and, absent the variance account, was prepared to walk away from the $264 million then forecast.

At tab 3, sub 9 is OPG's argument, reply argument, page 134 of 214, line 6:
"If the OEB were to reject the request for variance account, OPG's revenue requirement for the test period should incorporate the most up-to-date estimates of its test period pension and OPEB costs.  Whether on an accrual or a cash basis, the impact statement provides an estimate of these costs for the prescribed assets as of August 31, 2010."

In the section above on the cash versus accrual method of recovery, OPG provided the amount of updated cash costs for the prescribed assets based on the actuarial assessment underlying the impact statement, and then OPG went on to assert that it should be done on an accrual basis.

So, in my submission, it was always OPG's position that, yes, it wanted a variance account, but it was not prepared to walk away from what it knew to be a substantial under-forecasting based on the impact statement.  And, indeed, if you look at the Board's decision at page 91, the Board does not end its discussion, of course, with the decision with respect to the variance account; understood perfectly well what OPG was asking, and then went on to make the findings that we obviously rely on very heavily with respect to the update and its lack of rigour and selectively.

So, in my submission, the Board understood perfectly well what OPG was asking for, decided to deny the request for a variance account, one; and, two, decided to prefer the pre-filed evidence as opposed to the update, and, therefore, disallowed in revenue requirement the $264,200,000.

On this motion, OPG challenges only the second of the Board's two findings.  We're not saying the Board should have ordered a variance account, and did not.  By way of remedy, the Board can order on this motion a variance account, but if the Board doesn't want to and feels that would be inappropriate, having regard to the disallowance previously, obviously you have our position with respect to a deferral account.

Now, I do think it's worth making one observation about the variance account, however, and that's if you look at -- my friends have said that OPG was denied a variance account in its previous payment amount decision.  And that's true, with this exception.

If you turn to tab 3, sub 2 of our motion record -- this should be Exhibit H, tab 1, page 10 of 12, is where I'm at.

And if you look at line 18, this is an extract from the Board's decision in the 2007-0905 case, and it says:
"In the event that OPG's actual pension and OPEB costs during the test period are materially in excess of the amounts included in the revenue requirement, OPG would have the ability to apply for it."

So, yes, the denial of the variance account in first instance, but the Board did leave open the possibility if there was a significant variance.  So OPG's decision to proceed with the variance requested in the circumstances of the update makes perfect sense, in my submission.

And in any event, the over-arching point is this amounts to a distraction, having regard to what OPG is actually seeking.

Now, I would like to pick up just as my next point Mr. Thompson's repeated comment about OPG's appeal.  I must say this submission is made out of whole cloth, because there is nothing before you on which you could base any comparison between OPG's appeal and the present proceeding.

This is a Rule 44 motion based on an error of fact.  That's all that OPG is asserting.  OPG has an appeal based on section 33 of an alleged error of law.

Those materials, if my friend wanted to suggest that this was some sort of abuse of process, he could have put those materials before the Board, and elected not to.  It's an even more remarkable submission characterizing OPG's appeal having regard to the fact my friend's client has not even responded.

OPG has filed a notice of appeal.  OPG has filed a factum.  To the extent the Board wants to look at them, that's fine.  In my submission, you will see the two are no more similar.

Let me return to Mr. Millar's submission dealing first with this concept of the business plan.  My first point, and I made it already, is that the business plan -- the pension cost is an input to the business plan and not an output, but the second point I would make, in addition to the point that it's an input and not an output and the fact the Board doesn't even refer to the business plan as a basis of its decision on page 91, but the entire submission is contrary to the evidence in this respect:  The underlying premise of my friend's submission is that there are other costs which would have been adjusted had you updated the business plan.

The problem with that is there's not a shred of evidence to support it.  The evidence which is on the record from Mr. Millar in cross-examination was, Did you ask the business units for any updates above $10 million?  Answer:  Yes.  What's the product of those?  Three items, those have been put forward.

And to now suggest that if you had done an entire update that something else would have been discovered is, frankly, absolutely unsupportable.  And if that was some line of cross-examination that my friend wanted to put, he could have put it and chose not to.  And there's no basis on the record for a conclusion that OPG's update was selective.

Now, my friend referred -- Mr. Millar referred briefly to the Union matters.  I do want to make this observation.  If you look at tab 2 of the supplementary motion record, what my friend said is, looking at page 3, you'll see that there was a comprehensive update to Union's evidence.

In fact, that's not what the letter says.  It is worth looking at it for one minute.  What the update says on page 2, the first page of the letter is:
"Please find enclosed Union's blue page, updated evidence."

That's the evidence at tab 3.  On the page over, it says, also included are the following, and a series of corrections.  These are transposition errors, and what have you.  These are not an update, as my friend says, to Union's business plan.

Now, as my friend I think ultimately fairly recognized, the various caveats that are identified in the Mercer letter are in fact the various caveats which were identified in OPG's pre-filed evidence.  So to the extent my friend makes the submission that the Board preferred the original pre-filed evidence having regard to the caveats in the Mercer evidence, two responses:  One, that's not what the Board said; and, two, the caveats are identical, so it's not a basis for a conclusion that the update was any less rigorous.

And, Member Taylor, you asked a question about page 2 of the Mercer letter, and what I can advise, if you look at Exhibit F4, tab 3, schedule 1, page 21 of 37, which can be found behind tab 3, sub 1 of our motion record, this schedule describes the methodology OPG took in its prefiled evidence in preparing its pension and OPEB costs.

The observation that Mercer makes is similar -- it's the same as the observation found on page 21 beginning at line 11 with respect to actuarial gains and losses being generally amortized over a period of time, and a discussion of the corridor approach.  So there's nothing new in the Mercer letter.

All they are observing is, Well, now that we have different discount rates, there are changes in result, but it's not a change in methodology in the update from a change in the pre-filed, and a comparison of the pre-filed to the Mercer will show that.

My friend, Mr. Millar, again, referred to Exhibit K1.3, identifying as a justification for the correctness of the Board's decision that the 2010 number, as reflected in the financial statement, is close to the forecast.

Two observations with respect to that.  First, it wasn't in evidence; but, second, completely misses the point.  Paragraph 18 of Mr. Reeve's affidavit looks at 2011 and 2012 forecast costs.  It is not a consideration of 2010 in the annual report.  So, in my submission, the annual report is of no assistance in that respect.

While we're looking at Mr. Reeve's affidavit, I would like to make two observations.  First, there is nothing in paragraphs 1 to 17 in Mr. Reeve's affidavit that is not in the underlying record in 2010-0008.

The entire purpose of the affidavit was to make it easier for this Panel to see where the evidence was before the previous panel.

And in response to my friend Mr. Thompson's comment, this isn't an exercise in allocating normative blame for not finding something.  The idea behind Rule 44 is:  Was there a factual error, yes or no?

This is a simple exercise of compiling the evidence in a way that makes it useful for this Board today.  Could we have done without it?  Certainly.  But I would have been flipping back and forth between tabs, which would not have been helpful for anybody here today.

In response to Mr. Millar's comment about the 207.7 million, that there's no support for it, it's sworn testimony.  Nobody cross-examined on it.  It was put forward in an affidavit.  If somebody wanted to challenge it, they could challenge it.

If there's a problem with the number, all the more reason for a variance account.  But if the Board has any concerns about it, that's fine, too.  We can deal with it in terms of remedy, and parties can ask interrogatories with respect to whether the 207.7 is or is not the right number.  Nothing turns on that point.

Mr. Shepherd spent a good deal of time dealing with the appropriate test.  In my submission, the appropriate test is laid out clearly in NGEIR, both on the threshold, and the appropriate test on the merit is laid out in the motion to review from OPG's last case.  That's why I took the Board to it.  It's at page 15 -- if a material error is identified.

Now, my friend would have it that the test should be higher, that you need to find the decision was patently unreasonable, setting aside that that standard no longer exists in court and it is just reasonableness.

Even if you were to apply that standard, in my submission, it would not present an obstacle to OPG's request for relief, and I say that because an error in fact and acting contrary to the evidence is always a basis for reviewable error.  And here, our submission is the Board said the update was prepared on a less rigorous basis, and it was selective.

As a matter of fact, that statement is contrary to the evidence, in our submission.  It is not a question of competing evidence.  It is not a question of preference.

This may be an appropriate time to answer your question, Mr. Sommerville, and that is:  Looking at page 91, What did the Board mean down at the bottom when it said "with the exception of using more current data"?

There's two possibilities.  The first is the statement is somewhat inconsistent with what I think the primary findings are up in the two paragraphs above which are side-barred.  To the extent the Board was saying that there was -- that it had regard to changes in the discount rate after the update was filed, in my submission, that would be equally probable for two reasons.

One, there's no indication -- first of all, it's not on the record and that's just plain -- it's not on the record.  The Board has to make its decision based on the record.

So if what the Board is referring to is some piece of data after the update, that's a problem.  It's a problem for two reasons.  One, it's not on the record; two, it's not a fact the Board can take judicial notice of; and, three, there's no indication of whatever discount rate the Board was looking at would impact on OPG's forecast pension and OPEB costs.

So, in other words, to the extent the Board was grounding its decision on some fact that's not identified in the record, that would equally be grounds for a motion today.  So I don't think that it would be helpful, and I don't think that's likely what the Board was seeking do.  I think more likely, as I've submitted before, it's the side-barred portions which drove the Board to its decision.

In that respect, my friend Mr. Thompson's submission about competing evidence, he would say, yes, the Board had a choice between evidence of 633 million and the later evidence.

That's of course only part of the story.  You have to look at why the Board reached its decision.  And how the Board reached its decision is plain on the last sentence of the second paragraph of under "Board Findings".  "Accordingly the Board finds", the "accordingly" is a direction to why it preferred the pre-filed, and that's because it determined that the pre-filed was prepared on a more rigorous basis than the update, which was based on the updating of one variable only.

And that finding, in my submission, is factually incorrect.  And I take up your comments, Mr. Sommerville, in response to Mr. Shepherd, that there is a difference between saying we looked at everything and we've concluded to only update the bond yield, and you did not look at everything.

In my submission, the Board, as a matter of fact, was saying, You did you not look at everything.  And that statement is factually incorrect.

Subject to any questions, those are my submissions.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The Board will defer its decision and deliver it in due course.

I would like to thank the parties for delivering very able submissions in this case, and we will try to get a decision out as soon as practicable.  Thank you.

--- Whereupon the hearing concluded at 1:50 p.m.
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